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PART |

Private Securities Litigation Reform Act Safe Harba Statement

Certain statements included herein and in othesrte@and public filings made by RCM Technologies,. I(“RCM” or the “Company”) are
forward-looking within the meaning of the Privatec8rities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Theseviard-looking statements include,
without limitation, statements regarding the admptdy businesses of new technology solutions; seehly businesses of outsourced soluti
such as those offered by the Company, in conneetiinsuch adoption; the Company’s strategic anglri®ss initiatives and growth
strategies; and the outcome of litigation (at kbthtrial and appellate levels) involving the CompaReaders are cautioned that such
forward-looking statements, as well as others nipdine Company, which may be identified by wordshsas “may,” “will,” “expect,”
“anticipate,” “continue,” “estimate,” “project,” titend,” “believe,” and similar expressions, areygmedictions and are subject to risks and
uncertainties that could cause the Company’s actsalts and financial position to differ matenjalom such statements. Such risks and
uncertainties include, without limitation: (i) umployment and general economic conditions affedfiregprovision of information technolo
and engineering services and solutions and theplant of temporary staffing personnel; (ii) the @amy’s ability to continue to attract, tr
and retain personnel qualified to meet the requarmof its clients; (iii) the Company’s ability identify appropriate acquisition candidates,
complete such acquisitions and successfully integrequired businesses; (iv) the Company’s relaliips with and reliance upon significant
customers; (v) risks associated with foreign curyeffuctuations and changes in exchange ratescpbatly with respect to the Canadian
dollar; (vi) uncertainties regarding amounts ofestefd consideration and earnout payments to bepayable to former shareholders of
acquired businesses; (vii) the adverse effect antial decrease in the trading price of the Com{sangmmon stock would have upon the
Company’s ability to acquire businesses throughigkeance of its securities; (viii) the Companybdity to obtain financing on satisfactory
terms; (ix) the reliance of the Company upon theticoed service of its executive officers; (x) thempany’s ability to remain competitive in
the markets that it serves; (xi) the Company’sighib maintain its unemployment insurance premiwamd workers compensation premiums;
(xii) the risk of claims being made against the @amy associated with providing temporary staffiagrices; (xiii) the Company’s ability to
manage significant amounts of information and pidally expand and upgrade its information proaggsiapabilities; (xiv) the Company’s
ability to remain in compliance with federal andtetwage and hour laws and regulations; (xv) uaggi¢s in predictions as to the future n
for the Company'’s services; (xvi) uncertaintieatiglg to the allocation of costs and expensesth eithe Company’s operating segments;
(xvii) the costs of conducting and the outcomeitgddtion involving the Company, and the applicapibf insurance coverage with respect to
any such litigation; (xviii) the results of, andste relating to, any interactions with shareholagthe Company who may pursue specific
initiatives with respect to the Company’s goverreaand strategic direction, including without lintiken a contested proxy solicitation
initiated by such shareholders, or any similar Sntéractions; and (ixx) other economic, compeditand governmental factors affecting the
Company’s operations, markets, products and sesviBeaders are cautioned not to place undue celiam these forwarlboking statement
which speak only as of the date made. Exceptaqsrsd by law, the Company undertakes no obligatiopublicly release the results of any
revision of these forward-looking statements téefthese trends or circumstances after the tatedre made or to reflect the occurrence of
unanticipated events.




ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General

RCM Technologies, Inc. is a premier provider ofihass and technology solutions designed to enhamdenaximize the operational
performance of its customers through the adaptatimhdeployment of advanced engineering and infdom&echnology services. RCM is
also a provider of specialty healthcare servicend@r health care institutions and educationalifess. RCM has been an innovative leader
in the design, development, and delivery of theseises to commercial and government sectors fore#ds. Over the years, the Company
has developed and assembled an attractive, disadsextensive portfolio of capabilities, servickedhgs and delivery options, established a
proven record of performance and credibility, andttan efficient pricing structure. This combiitat offers clients a compelling value
proposition with the potential to substantially @lecate the successful attainment of their busiobgtives

RCM consists of three operating segments: Engingehformation Technology and Specialty HealtheC&ervices. RCM'’s Engineering
segment provides engineering and design, engirgearialysis, technical writing and technical suppertices, Engineer, Procure and
Construction Management (“EPC") as well as Demaidd $lanagement/Energy Conservation Services. Cdmpany’s Information
Technology, or IT, segment provides enterpriser®ss solutions, application services, infrastrictniutions, competitive advantage &
productivity solutions, life sciences solutions arker selected vertical market specific offeringfie Company’s Specialty Health Care
Services segment provides the staffing of health peofessionals, primarily therapists, nurseseard givers.

The Company services some of the largest natiorhlrgernational companies in North America as aslh lengthy roster of Fortune 1000
and mid-sized businesses in such industries asspaoe/Defense, Energy, Financial Services, Lifer®as, Manufacturing & Distribution,
the Public Sector and Technology. RCM believesfédrs a range of solutions that fosters long-telient relationships, affords cross-selling
opportunities, and minimizes the Company’s depeog@m any single technology or industry sector.MR&lls and delivers its services
through a network of 30 offices in selected regittmsughout North America.

The Company is a Nevada corporation organized "i19he address of its principal executive offee@500 McClellan Avenue, Suite 350,
Pennsauken, NJ 08109-4613.

During the fiscal year ended January 3, 2015, aqimately 51.5% of RCM’s total revenues were deriffen Engineering services, 30.5%
from IT services, and the remaining 18.0% from $ggcHealth Care services.

Demand for the Company’s services and spendingslgustomers can be significantly impacted by ckang the general level of economic
activity, particularly technology spending. Duripgriods of reduced economic activity, such asth@éronment in the United States and the
world in general that followed the economic diskbmas that commenced in mid-2007, the Company ni&yl@e subject to increased pricing
pressure in its markets due to reduced spendirdidmts and potential clients of the Company. B#t periods of weakness in the econt
can have a material adverse impact on the Compéaugisess and results of operations.

Industry Overview

Businesses today face intense competition, thdecttd of constant technological change and theinggeeed for business process
optimization. To address these issues and to ctampere effectively, companies are continually eatihg the need for implementing
innovative solutions to upgrade their systems, iapfpbns and processes. As a result, the abifignoorganization to integrate and align
advanced technologies with new business objectsvestical.




ITEM 1. BUSINESS (CONTINUED)

Industry Overview (Continued)

Although most companies recognize the importanagptimizing their systems, applications and proesds compete in today’s challenging
environment, the process of designing, developityimmplementing business and technology solutisfmetoming increasingly

complex. The Company believes that many businesgefocused on return on investment analysisiorifizing their initiatives. The
Company believes that as a consequence, over shéepayears, companies have elected to deferfineder cancel investments in new
systems, software, and solutions and have focusedaking extended and more effective use of prevteahnological investments.

On the other hand, the current economic environreallenges many companies to integrate and mas@gputing environments consisting
of multiple computing platforms, operating systemfstabases and networking protocols and off-thé-sb&ware applications to support
business objectives. Companies also need to keapwith new technology developments, which ofagidly render existing equipment and
internal skills obsolete. At the same time, exaéetonomic factors have caused many organizatifteus on core competencies and trim
workforces in the IT management area. Accordintiigse organizations often lack the quantity, dqualnd variety of IT skills necessary to
design and support IT solutions. IT managers haeged with supporting increasingly complex systamd applications of significant
strategic value, while working under budgetary spaenel and expertise constraints within their owgaaizations.

The Company’s Engineering group continues to fanuareas of growth within the energy, aerospacecaminercial building industries. In
recent years, many businesses have been advergedgted by oil prices and other energy-relatedscastl developments, and for that and
various other reasons, there has been growingisentiaround the world for the development of ali&ue sources of energy, including a
renewed interest in nuclear power.

The Company believes its target market for IT saryiis among middle-market companies, which tylyidatk the time and technical
resources to satisfy all of their IT needs intdgnallhese companies commonly require sophisticaegderienced IT assistance to achieve
their business objectives and often rely on IT iserproviders to help implement and manage theitesys. However, many middle-market
companies rely on multiple providers for their I@etls. Generally, the Company believes that thieni@e on multiple providers results from
the fact that larger IT service providers do nog¢d these companies, while smaller IT service iplerg, which do target these companies,
lack sufficient breadth of services or industry Wedge to satisfy all of these companies' needse Gompany believes this reliance on
multiple service providers creates multiple relasioips that are more difficult and less cost-effecto manage than a single relationship and
can adversely influence the quality and compatibdf IT solutions. RCM is structured to providédaie-market companies a single source
for their IT needs.

In the healthcare services industry, a shortagaifes and other medical personnel in the UnitateShas led to increases in business
activity for health care service companies, inalgdihe Company’s Specialty Healthcare Group. Dygart to an aging population and
improved medical technology, the demand for setebtmlth care professionals is expected to contiwee the next several years.

Business Strategy

RCM is dedicated to providing solutions to meetlisnts’ business needs by delivering engineeaind information technology

services. The Company’s objective is to remaiacagnized leader of specialized professional ctinguservices and solutions in major
markets throughout North America. The Company txlaperating strategies to achieve this objectivee following is a discussion of the
key elements of its growth and operating strategies




ITEM 1. BUSINESS (CONTINUED)

Growth Strategy

Promote Full Life Cycle Solution Capability

The Company promotes a full life cycle solution aifity to its customers. The goal of the fulklifycle solution strategy is to fully addre:
client’s project implementation cycle at each stage aféteelopment and deployment. This entails the Gompvorking with its clients fror
the initial conceptualization of a project throutfhdesign and project execution, and extending amgoing management and support of the
delivered product. RCM's strategy is to build jeis and solutions offerings selectively, utilizitgjyextensive resource base.

The Company believes that the effective executfahie strategy will generate improved margins tsreiisting resources. The completiol
this service-offering continuum is intended to affthe Company the opportunity to strengthen largatclient relationships that will further
contribute to a more predictable revenue stream.

In addition to a full life cycle solution offeringhe Company continues to focus on transitionirig ligher value oriented services in an effort
to increase its margins on its various servicesliaed generate revenue that is more sustainalble.Company believes this transition is
accomplished by pursuing additional vertical masgcific solutions in conjunction or combinatioitwongerterm based solutions, throt
expansion of its client relationships and by purgwstrategic alliances and partnerships.

Achieve Internal Growth

The Company continues to promote its internal ghosttategies which it designed to better serveCiimpany’s customers, generate higher
revenue and achieve greater operating efficiendiesiness units are collaborating on penetratiryservicing accounts as sales teams are
increasing their activity levels. This enablegits to be supported by specialists in their aséaged while RCM productivity increases.

RCM provides an orientation program in which satemagers and professionals receive relevant infilsmabout Company operations.

RCM has adopted an industry-centric approach &ssahd marketing. This initiative contemplates thients within the same industry
sectors tend to have common business challengéseréfore allows the Company to present and eebwnhanced value to those clients ir
vertical markets in which RCM has assembled thatgst work experience. RCM'’s consultants contilougctjuire project experience that
offers differentiated awareness of the businesBertges that clients in that industry are facifidnis alignment also facilitates and creates
additional cross-selling opportunities. The Comphbelieves this strategy will lead to greater actqenetration and enhanced client
relationships.

Operational strategies contributing to RCM'’s in@rproductivity include the delineation of certaiew solutions practice areas in markets
where its clients had historically known the Comypan a contract service provider. The formatiotheke practice areas should facilitate the
flow of project opportunities and the delivery abject-based solutions.

Pursue Selective Strategic Acquisitions

The industry in which the Company operates consirtaébe highly fragmented, and the Company plam®mdinue to selectively assess
opportunities to make strategic acquisitions a sygportunities are presented to the Company. Tdmpany's acquisition strategy is
designed to broaden the scope of services anditatlmompetencies and grow its full life cycle g@ua capabilities. In considering
acquisition opportunities, the Company focusesagipeilly on companies with (i) technologies or markegments RCM has targeted for
strategic value enhancement, (ii) margins thataoeetive to existing margins, (iii) experiencednagement personnel, (iv) substantial
growth prospects and (v) sellers who desire to fltnCompany’s management team. To retain andd@ancentives for management of its
acquired companies, the Company has generallytgtagta significant portion of the acquisition jgria the form of multi-tiered
consideration based on growth of operating profitstof the acquired company over a two to fouaygeriod.




ITEM 1. BUSINESS (CONTINUED)

Operating Strategy

Develop and Maintain Strong Customer Relationships

The Company seeks to develop and maintain strdegaictive customer relationships by anticipatind otusing on its customers’

needs. The Company emphasizes a relationshipted@pproach to business, rather than the transastiassignmentriented approach th
the Company believes is used by many of its cortgrsti This industry-centric strategy is desigredltow RCM to expand further its
relationships with clients in RCM'’s targeted sestor

To develop close customer relationships, the Coryipgractice managers and/or sales people regulaelst with both existing and
prospective clients to identify areas of need aglg Hesign solutions and identify the resourcesledéo execute their strategies. The
Company’s managers also maintain close communitatigth their customers during each project andmongoing basis after its
completion. The Company believes that this refeiop-oriented approach can result in greater oustsatisfaction. Additionally, the
Company believes that by collaborating with itstoogers in designing business solutions, it can ggaeew opportunities to cross-sell
additional services that the Company has to offdre Company focuses on providing customers witlified individuals or teams of expe
compatible with the business needs of its customedsmakes a concerted effort to follow the progiassuch relationships to ensure their
continued success.

Attract and Retain Highly Qualified Consultants drethnical Resources

The Company believes it has been successful iactittg and retaining highly qualified consultantsl @ontractors by (i) providing
stimulating and challenging work assignments,dfifgring competitive wages, (iii) effectively commigating with its candidates, (iv)
providing selective training to maintain and upgrattills and (v) aligning the needs of its custasmeith appropriately skilled personnel. 1
Company believes it has been successful in retithiese personnel due in part to its use of pmactianagers who are dedicated to
maintaining contact with, and monitoring the satision levels of, the Company’s consultants andrestors while they are on assignment.

Centralize Administrative Functions

The Company continues to improve its operatiorfatieficies by integrating general and administefiunctions at the corporate or regional
level, and reducing or eliminating redundant fuoiesi formerly performed at smaller branch offic&his enables the Company to realize
savings and synergies and to control and mong&avperations efficiently, as well as to quicklyeigtate new acquisitions. It also allows local
branches to focus more on growing their local ofpana.

To accomplish this, the Company’s financial repaytand accounting systems are centralized in thepgaay’s operational headquarters in
Parsippany, NJ. The systems have been configarpdrform all back office functions, including pallr project management, project cost
accounting, billing, human resource administraon financial reporting and consolidation. The @any anticipates a comprehensive
review of its financial reporting and accountingt®m platform in the fiscal 2015. The Companyizé¢# SAP software for its financial
reporting and accounting system which was impleseit 1999 and has not undergone significant uggrathce its initial
implementation. The Company believes that it sitome necessary to upgrade or replace its SARci@aeporting and accounting syste
perhaps as early as the second half of fiscal ditBnore likely some time in fiscal 2016. The Camyp estimates this upgrade or
replacement of SAP will cost somewhere between #illibn and $2.0 million. These estimates arejscito change.




ITEM 1. BUSINESS (CONTINUED)

Engineering

The Company’s Engineering segment consists offosiness units — Engineering Services and Projeotser Systems Services USA and
Power Systems Services Canada and Facilities DasigiConstruction. The Engineering Services angfts unit includes Aerospace,
Manufacturing and Industrial Engineering divisiorighe Power Systems units focus primarily on thelear power, fossil fuel, transmission
and distribution and electric utility industries.

RCM provides a full range of Engineering servigeduding Engineering & Design, Engineering Analy&isgineer-Procure-Construct,
Configuration Management, Hardware/Software Valaa& Verification, Quality Assurance, Technical Mifig & Publications,

Manufacturing Process Planning & Improvement, Rdlity Centered Maintenance (RCM), Component & Eumént Testing and Risk
Management Engineering. Engineering services andqed at the site of the client or, less freqiyerat the Company’s own facilities.

The Company believes that the deregulation of thigies industry and the aging of nuclear powearps offer the Company an opportunity to
capture a greater share of professional servicgpaject management requirements of the utilitidsistry both in engineering services and
through cross-selling of its information technolaggrvices. Heightened competition, deregulatichrapid technological advances are
forcing the utilities industry to make fundamernthhnges in its business process. These pressawresbmpelled the utilities industry to
focus on internal operations and maintenance &eivand to increasingly outsource their designergineering modification

requirements. Additionally, the Company believes tompetitive performance demands from dereguiahould increase the importance
information technology to this industry. The Compéelieves that its expertise and strong relatiggsswith certain customers within the
utilities industry position the Company to be adieg provider of professional services to the tigisi industry.

RCM provides a wide array of turnkey energy managy@rservices offering clients/customers opportasifor demand side management
from concept to turnover. Deploying advanced nieteinfrastructure (AMI) systems is the catalystl dam@nchmarking tool necessary for
today’s cost effective, energy efficient and susthle programs.

The Company provides its engineering services tiltanumber of delivery methods. These includeaged tasks and resources, complete
project services, outsourcing, both on and off;gited a full complement of resourcing alternatives.

As of January 3, 2015, the Company assigned appedgly 705 engineering and technical employeesandultants to its customers.
Information Technology

The Company’s IT segment is an integrated groupusfness units providing staff supplementationises/and project solutions with
physical locations in the U.S., Canada and Pueido primarily supporting Financial, Technical, Mdacturing and Distribution
applications. Areas of specialization in projegiusions include:

« Enterprise Infrastructure Management

« Enterprise Integration

« Enterprise Supply Chain

« Enterprise Project Management

« Enterprise HR

« Life Sciences

« Assessment and Remediation of Federally RegulafedScience Equipment and Processes




ITEM 1. BUSINESS (CONTINUED)

Information Technology (Continued)

The RCM Enterprise Business Solutions Group’s boisgness mission is to continue its strategic fnsation designed to focus the
Company on developing proprietary customized sohstiand methodologies by bundling software, systéwots and services into integrated
business and technology solutions. Invoices ojept®whereby the Company sold its own propriesafjware were not material for the
fiscal year ended January 3, 2015.

RCM'’s sector knowledge coupled with technical andibess process experience enable the Compangum@rstrategic planning, project
execution and management and support servicesgooti the entire project life cycle. RCM has ssstelly completed multimillion-dollar
projects in a variety of industry verticals usiimge-tested methodologies that manage strict budgetslines and quality metrics.

Among those IT services provided by RCM to itsrdigeare:

« Enterprise Business Solutions

Application Services

« Infrastructure Solutions

« Competitive Advantage & Productivity Solutions
« Life Sciences Solutions

The Company believes that its ability to deliveloimation technology solutions across a wide rasfgechnical platforms provides an
important competitive advantage. RCM ensuresith@bnsultants have the expertise and skills rbéal&eep pace with rapidly evolving
information technologies. The Company'’s strategipimaintain expertise and acquire knowledge iltiphe technologies so it can offer its
clients non-biased technology solutions best suddteir business needs.

The Company provides its IT services through a remalb flexible delivery methods. These include agement consulting engagements,
project management of client efforts, project impémtation of client initiatives, outsourcing, bath and off site, and a full complement of
resourcing alternatives.

As of January 3, 2015, the Company assigned appeigly 430 information technology employees andsatiants to its customers.
Specialty Health Care

The Company’s Specialty Health Care Group spee@slia long-term and shorérm staffing as well as executive search and piace for the
following fields: rehabilitation (physical therafss occupational therapists and speech languagelpatsts), nursing, managed care, allied
health care, health care management, medical aftipport and non-medical caregivers or companidine specialty health care group
provides services to hospitals, long-term cardifeas, schools, sports medicine facilities andraté practices. Services include in-patient,
outpatient, sub-acute and acute care, multilingpakch pathology, rehabilitation, and geriatridigic, and adult day care. Typical
engagements either range from three to six monthseoon a day-to-day shift basis.

As of January 3, 2015, the Company assigned appedgly 730 specialty health care services full-tegeivalent personnel to its customers.




ITEM 1. BUSINESS (CONTINUED)

Branch Offices

The Company’s organization consists of 30 branélcexf located in the United States, Canada and®&éco. The locations and services of
each of the branch offices are set forth in théetablow.

NUMBER OF SERVICES
LOCATION OFFICES PROVIDED(1)
USA
California 2 HC
Connecticu 1 E
Florida 1 HC
Georgia 1 HC
Hawaii 1 HC
Illinois 1 HC
Maryland 1 IT
Massachusett 1 IT
Michigan 2 IT
Minnesota 1 IT
New Jerse! 4 IT, E, HC
New York 3 IT, E, HC
Oregon 1 IT
Pennsylvani: 1 HC
Rhode Islanc 1 E
Texas 1 HC
Wisconsin 1 E
24
CANADA 5 IT, E
PUERTO RICC 1 IT

(1) Services provided are abbreviated as follows:
E - Engineering
IT - Information Technology
HC - Specialty Health Care

Branch offices are primarily located in marketst @ Company believes have strong growth prosgectngineering and IT services. The
Company’s branches are operated in a decentrakrdcbpreneurial manner with most branch officesrating as independent profit

centers. The Comparg/branch managers are given significant autonontiyeirdaily operations of their respective offices awith respect t
such offices, are responsible for overall guidaamg supervision, budgeting and forecasting, saldsyaarketing strategies, pricing, hiring ¢
training. Branch managers are paid on a perforexased compensation system designed to motivat@anagers to maximize growth and
profitability.




ITEM 1. BUSINESS (CONTINUED)

Branch Offices (Continued)

The Company is domiciled in the United States amdegments operate in the United States, CanatBuwarto Rico. Revenues for the fiscal
year ended January 3, 2015 and total assets byaggog area as of January 3, 2015 are as followrs {ffousands)

Total
Revenue:! Assets
United State: $139,88I $56,76-
Canads 47,63¢ 28,77¢
Puerto Ricc 6,251 1,732
$193,77! $87,27:

The Company believes that substantial portionsi@thiuying decisions made by users of the Compa®y\dces are made on a local or
regional basis and that the Company’s branch affinest often compete with local and regional pressd Since the Company’s branch
managers are in the best position to understanditival markets and customers often prefer localjuers, the Company believes that a
decentralized operating environment enhances apgna¢rformance and contributes to employee antbmes satisfaction.

From its headquarters locations in New JerseyCtirapany provides its branch offices with centraliaeministrative, marketing, finance,
MIS, human resources and legal support. Centdbziministrative functions minimize the administratburdens on branch office managers
and allow them to spend more time focusing on sahelsmarketing and practice development activities.

The Company'’s principal sales offices typically b@ane general manager, one sales manager, thsees@les people, several technical
delivery or practice managers and several recalit&éhe general managers report to regional viesigents who are responsible for ensuring
that performance goals are achieved. The Compaegisnal vice presidents meet frequently to dis¢best practices” and ways to increase
the Company’s cross selling of its professionabises. The Company’s practice managers meet pealgto strategize, maintain

continuity, and identify developmental needs ara$stselling opportunities.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing efforts are conducted at tted Bnd national level through the Companyétwork of branch offices. Sales activities
productivity are tracked and rankings establishati@ublished. Sales between business units igné&ged and financially encouraged. The
Company emphasizes logrm personal relationships with customers thatlakeloped through regular assessment of custagairement
and proactive monitoring of service performancée Tompany’s sales personnel make regular viségigiing and prospective

customers. New customers are obtained throughessdles programs and referrals. The Company eagesi its employees to participate in
national and regional trade associations, locaintieas of commerce and other civic associationee Gbmpany seeks to develop strategic
partnering relationships with its customers by mimg comprehensive solutions for all aspects ofistomer’s engineering, information
technology and other professional services ne&tie. Company concentrates on providing carefullgesed professionals with the
appropriate skills in a timely manner and at contipetprices. The Company regularly monitors thwlity of the services provided by its
personnel and obtains feedback from its custonwets their satisfaction with the services provided.

The Company has elevated the importance of wonkitiy and developing its partner alliances with teadogy firms. Partner programs are
place with firms RCM has identified as strategigathportant to the completeness of the servicerioifeof the Company. Relations have
been established with firms such as ADP, IBM, Meyciicrosoft, Oracle and QAD, among others. Thetiper programs may be managed
either at a national level from RCM'’s corporateads or at a regional level from its branch offices




ITEM 1. BUSINESS (CONTINUED)

Sales and Marketing (Continued)

The Company’s larger recognizable customers incBMeAAR Corporation, ADP, Amgen, Atrium Medicalukora Flight Sciences
Corporation, Bimbo Bakeries, USA, Black and McDah&ruce Power Limited Partnership (“Bruce PoweBiuckner Supply Company,
Chrysler Corporation, Con Edison, Covanta, EnteExglon Nuclear, FlightSafety International, Hawaépartment of Education, IBM,
Johnson and Johnson, Lilly del Caribe, MicrosoftyNY ork City Board of Education, New York Power Aatity, Ontario Power Generatic
Pfizer, Pragmatics, PSE&G, Teleflex Medical, Unitéglalth Group, United Technologies Corporation,.UD8partment of the Treasury,
Warner Chilcott and Zimmer Holdings, Inc. The Camnp serves Fortune 1000 companies and many midallketclients. The Company’s
relationships with these customers are typicaltynfed at the customers’ local or regional level &inch time to time, when appropriate, at the
corporate level for national accounts.

During the fiscal year ended January 3, 2015, @GmRower Group (the Company primarily serviced @ntRower Generation as a
subcontractor through Black and McDonald Limiteddl &nited Technologies Corporation accounted fodZiland 12.9% of the Company’s
revenues, respectively. No other customer accduntel0% or more of the Company’s revenues. Tamg@any’s five, ten and twenty
largest customers accounted for approximately 43861R#% and 69.8%, respectively, of the Compargienues for fiscal year ended
January 3, 2015.

Recruiting and Training

The Company devotes a significant amount of tingr@sources, primarily at the branch level, to fimgg training and retaining its
professional personnel. Full-time recruiters edilthe Company’s proprietary databases of availadrigsonnel, which are cross-indexed by
competency and skill to match potential candidatiéis the specific project requirements of the costo. The qualified personnel in the
databases are identified through numerous charinelsding networking, referrals, trade shows, fairs, schools, newspaper and trade
journal advertising, Internet recruiting servicesl dhe Compar’s website.

The Company believes that a significant elemetih@fCompany’s success in retaining qualified caastd and contract personnel is the
Company’s use of consultant relationship manageug@chnical practice managers. Consultant relskipp managers are qualified Company
personnel dedicated to maintaining on-site comntéttt, and monitoring the satisfaction levels og Bompany’s consultants and contract
personnel while they are on assignment. Practmeagers are consulting managers responsible faethaical development and career
development of the Company’s technical personngdinvithe defined practice areas. The Company gesvtechnical training and skills
development through vendor-sponsored courses, dempased training tools and on the job mentorirgams.

Information Systems

RCM has continued to engage in strategic initigiteeimprove upon its ability to secure data, deliservices and improve on its
communication infrastructure.

RCM has partnered with vendors like AT&T, Microsd@isco, SAP, ADP and DELL to deploy their busingskitions internally. All
perimeter devices have been standardized on Catlwiare; internal devices (servers, desktops, peptorinters, etc.) are DELL based; with
AT&T communication lines throughout the enterpriailitating centralized management and suppothefnetwork.

RCM has upgraded its perimeter network and WAN iggcture throughout the U.S. and Canada, to a eemmntralized model on Private
Network Transport (PNT /AVPN) AT&T circuits, utilimg Multiple Packet Label Switching (MPLS) transpprotocol. The hub datacenter

its operational headquarters has been outfitteldl reifundant fiber circuits from AT&T and Optimunghitpath utilizing Border gateway
Protocol (BGP) for automatic failover. Redundargwialls, routers and switching architecture prategainst hardware failure. Access to the
network is only allowed via SSL or IPSec 3DES pcols.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS (CONTINUED)

Information Systems (Continued)

The move to service oriented architecture facditiethe implementation of the Cisco Voice over IP(F) solution which is currently deployed
throughout RCM'’s offices. This enterprise solutibased on Cisco Call Manager, Unity Connectionemwiail, Presence, Jabber, WebEx Meeting
Server, Fax Server and Polycom Video Conferencasydifectively unified all RCM offices in the U.&d Canada. Benefits include four digit
extension calls between RCM offices, email and eaiail unification, soft and mobile phone integratigideo and web conferencing, central and
email enabled faxing.

RCM’s messaging architecture is currently basetherMicrosoft Exchange 2007 and Cisco Unity platfolrhe current mail system is comprised of
redundant mail routing servers and clustered maifeovers attached to a Storage Area Network (SBNY messaging platform has the current
capacity of six Terabytes (TB), with the capabitifyscaling to 18 Terabytes (TB). In addition toinstorage being sized for VOIP integration, web
access to the mail server is only allowed via s&UFTPs protocol. Augmenting the messaging architeds a mail archiving solution by GFI to
accommodate disaster recovery, compliance andtiidig requirements. RCM anticipates it will upgradéicrosoft Exchange 2013 in fiscal 2015,
currently in pilot phase, in order to capitalizetbe increased flexibility and high availabilityefieires. Windows Server 2012 cloud, virtualizatiod a
crosspremises capabilities are currently being evalutdgatovide the best platform for the new exchamgssaging environment. Deployment to
production environment is scheduled for some timisical 2015.

The Company has enhanced the ERP hardware, Appticatd Operating system, to accommodate its grpweeds. The branch offices of the
Company are networked to the corporate officegrilate circuits, which enable the ERP applicatmbe accessed securely at all operational
locations. The ERP system supports Company-wiéeabpns such as payroll, billing, human resourpesject systems, accounts receivable,
accounts payable, all general ledger accountindgdting and consolidation reporting functionalitjhe Company, as part of its business process
reengineering, migrated payroll processing and iefits to ADP, and is continuing to evaluate otects of its ERP landscape to promote
efficiencies, and determine the best fit for thgamization. The Company utilizes SAP software f®financial reporting and accounting system
which was implemented in 1999 and has not undergmmaficant upgrades since its initial implemeigat The Company believes that it will
become necessary to upgrade or replace its SARciamlaeporting and accounting system, perhapsidg as the second half of fiscal 2015 but more
likely some time in fiscal 2016. The Company esti@s this upgrade or replacement of SAP will costesvhere between $1.0 million and $2.0
million. These estimates are subject to change.

The Company also has Autotime and TES, automateeldind attendance systems, which augments the 8RPapplication by catering to the needs
of its diverse business offerings and distributexikfiorce. The applications are housed in a thiered DELL server architecture, and are currently
servicing Canadian and U.S. offices.

The Company’s internet presence is an integralgfats strategic initiative to improve visibilignd contextualize its business offerings. The
company’s website has been revised, making thersite interactive, with improved web analytics. Hite also utilizes Search Engine Optimization
which allows for an enhanced user experience.

The Company is utilizing JobDiva, an applicationvéee provider (ASP) solution for sourcing canditagand fulfilling client requirements. The
integrated solution allows RCM to track all cli¢aguirements on an enterprise level. JobDiva gerRICM recruiters to search multiple sources
job boards) to identify and match suitable candigdior an opportunity or need. JobDiva allows R@Nbuild and maintain a proprietary databas
prequalified candidates, thereby enhancing ouitahbd respond quickly to client demands. Furthere) the solution increases visibility internalty t
sales personnel and the management team to malegepdorities not only on a localized, but aioal basis. Customized reporting and query
capabilities allow RCM management to monitor persbperformance and client responsiveness. All dathinformation is accessible via a web
portal.

In the interest of consolidation and being gregd@iVRs currently deploying virtualization technoloffgpm VMware and Microsoft. The server
footprint at the primary datacenter in Parsippahyhas been reduced by 90% without compromisinggsysintegrity or redundancy.
Implementation of V-motion, fault tolerance, higladability and centralized management are an iatgoart of this solution. Green initiatives
include partnerships with vendors for the recycliigised printers, toners, servers, desktops arlendevices.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS (CONTINUED)

Other Information

Safequards Business, Disaster and Contingency Planning

RCM has implemented a number of safeguards to girtite Company from various system-related riskiiging a warm data center disaster
recovery site, redundant telecommunications angeseystems architecture, multi-tiered server agsktbp backup infrastructure, and data
center physical and environmental controls. Initamlt RCM has developed disaster recovery / bissim®ntinuity procedures for all offices.

Given the significant amount of data generatethén@ompany’s key processes including recruitingssgayroll and customer
invoicing, RCM has established redundant procedduestioning on a daily basis, within the Compangtimary data center. This
redundancy should mitigate the risks related tallware, application and data loss by utilizing thaeept of live differential backups of
servers and desktops to Storage Area Network (SfeNices on its backup LAN, culminating in offsiggé storage at an independent
facility. Besides the local tape backup rotatibi@nch office systems, data is also replicateHAN devices in Parsippany to achieve
business continuity. Controls within the data certevironment ensure that all systems are prodgtiwenitored and data is properly
archived.

Additionally, RCM has contracted and brokered styat relationships with thirgharty vendors to meet its recovery objectives sdiaent of

system disruption. For example, comprehensivesetgvel agreements provided by AT&T and CiscoR@M'’s data circuits and network

devices guarantee minimal outages as well as nktedundancy and scalability. The Disaster Recosite, located at the corporate office
in Pennsauken, NJ, provides WAN, ERP, VOIP, fifgleation and messaging services should the pyiata center facility at Parsippany
become inoperable.

The Company’s ability to protect its data assetdresy damage from fire, power loss, telecommurdeetifailures, and facility violations is
critical. To address potential cyber security #hisethe Company uses Websense mail managemeites@rvilter all emails destined for the
RCMT domain before being delivered to the corporatél servers. Websense, web filtering has also beployed to safeguard the enterg
from malicious internet content. The deploymeniaérosoft Forefront / WSUS virus, spam, and pata@dmagement controls extends from
perimeter network to all desktops and is centnalbnitored and managed. In addition to the virus malware controls, an Intrusion
Protection System (IPS) monitors and alerts on gbsum network traffic patterns as well as knowstte signatures.

The Company maintains a disaster recovery plandtiéines the recovery time / point objectives (RTRPO), organization structure, roles
and procedures, including site addendum disasamsgbr all of its key operating offices. Corperéf personnel regulate the maintenance
and integrity of backed-up data throughout the Camyp The Parsippany Data Center is expected to riwoaeolocation facility during the
first half of fiscal 2015. The colocation site willovide a hardened facility with Redundant Pov@as Generators and Redundant Internet
Access.

Competition

The market for engineering and IT services is higlumpetitive and is subject to rapid change. Wesrharket demand has shifted, many
software companies have adopted tactics to pueswéss and consulting offerings making them dicmghpetitors when in the past they n
have been alliance partners. Primary competitaiside participants from a variety of market segtsencluding publicly and privately held
firms, systems consulting and implementation firapgplication software firms, service groups of coibep equipment companies, facilities
management companies, general management condirtirsgand staffing companies. In addition, ther@any competes with its clients’
internal resources, particularly where these resmurepresent a fixed cost to the client. Suchpedition may impose additional pricing
pressures on the Company.

The Company believes its principal competitive adages in the engineering and IT services marktide: strong relationships with

existing clients, a long-term track record with o4€d00 clients, a broad range of services, tectheixpertise, knowledge and experience in
multiple industry sectors, quality and flexibilibf service, responsiveness to client needs andispeselivering IT solutions.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS (CONTINUED)

Competition (Continued)

Additionally, the Company competes for suitablewasition candidates based on its differentiatecuéition model, its entrepreneurial and
decentralized operating philosophy, and its stroorgorate-level support and resources.

Seasonality

The Company’s operating results can be affectetthépeasonal fluctuations in client expenditufgspenditures in the Engineering and
Information Technology segments can be negativafaicted during the first quarter of the year whamts are finalizing their

budgets. Quarterly results generally fluctuateetheling on, among other things, the number of lgltiays in a quarter and the seasonality of
clients’ businesses. The business is also affected byrtiegtiof holidays and seasonal vacation patternsergdly resulting in lower revenu
and gross profit in the fourth quarter of each yeat considering any non-seasonal impact. Extreeegther conditions may also affect
demand in the first and fourth quarters of the yw=sacertain clients’ facilities are located in gequnic areas subject to closure or reduced
hours due to inclement weather. The Company géypevgeriences an increase in its cost of salelsaacorresponding decrease in gross
profit and gross margin percentage in the first sexbnd fiscal quarters of each year as a resudtsetting certain state and federal
employment tax rates and related salary limitatioilso, the Company’s Specialty Health Care segrygically experiences a significant
decline in revenues due to the substantial clostiome of its largest customers, the New York Cigpartment of Education, and other
educational institution clients during the thirdagquer due to their summer recess.

Government Regulations

The Company is a consulting firm and employmentiserprovider and is generally subject to one orevof the following types of
government regulation: (1) regulation of the empldgmployee relationship between a firm and itsleyges, including tax withholding or
reporting, social security or retirement, benefiterkplace compliance, wage and hour, anti-disaration, immigration and workers’
compensation; (2) registration, licensing, recoedging and reporting requirements; and (3) fedamairactor compliance. The Company
believes it is in material compliance with all emyte related statutes.

Intellectual Property

Management believes the RCM Technologies, Inc. naragtremely valuable and important to its bussn@he Company endeavors to
protect its intellectual property rights and mainteertain trademarks, trade names, service mamttother intellectual property rights,
including The Source of Smart Solutions®. The Campis not currently aware of any infringing usesther conditions that would be
reasonably likely to materially and adversely aftbe Company’s use of its proprietary rights.

Employees

As of January 3, 2015, the Company employed anradtritive, sales, recruiting and management sfadpproximately 194 people,
including licensed engineers and certified IT splkstis who, from time to time, participate in erggning design and IT projects undertake
the Company. As of January 3, 2015, there wereoappately 705 engineering and technical and 43@mation technology employees and
consultants assigned by the Company to work omtofigojects for various periods and there were @yprately 730 specialty health care
services employees assigned to clients. Noneeo€timpany’s employees are represented by a cobdséirgaining agreement. The
Company considers its relationship with its empés/to be good.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS (CONTINUED)

Access to Company Information

RCM electronically files its annual report on Fob®+K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current réoon Form 8-K and all amendments to
those reports with the Securities and Exchange desiom (“SEC”). The public may read and copy ahthe reports that are filed with the
SEC at the SEG'Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Wgshin DC 20549. The public may obtain informatamthe operation ¢
the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC a®Q-8BEC-0330. The SEC maintains an Internet git&(//www.sec.goy that contains
reports, proxies, information statements, and atifermation regarding issuers that file electratiic

RCM makes available on its website or by respontlieg of charge to requests addressed to the Corigp@nrporate Secretary, its annual
reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form@,Gzurrent reports on Form 8-K and all amendmemthdse reports filed by the Company
with the SEC pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15{(theoSecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendéukse reports are available as soon as
reasonably practicable after such material is mdadtally filed with or furnished to the Securitiand Exchange Commission. The Company’
website is http://www.rcmt.com The information contained on the Company’s wiehsir on other websites linked to the Company’s
website, is not part of this document. Refererarein to the Company’s website is an inactive tef@érence only.

RCM has adopted a Code of Conduct applicable tofats directors, officers and employees. In a@dditthe Company has adopted a Code of
Ethics, within the meaning of applicable SEC rubgsplicable to its Chief Executive Officer, Chieh&ncial Officer and Controller. Both the
Code of Conduct and Code of Ethics are availabée, 6f charge, by sending a written request ta@Cthmpany’s Corporate Secretary. If the
Company makes any amendments to either of thesesQother than technical, administrative, or otie-substantive amendments), or
waives (explicitly or implicitly) any provision dhe Code of Ethics to the benefit of its Chief BExtaee Officer, Chief Financial Officer or
Controller, it intends to disclose the nature & #fmendment or waiver, its effective date and torwfiit applies in the investor relations
portion of the website, or in a report on Form 8i&d with the SEC.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The Company’s business involves a number of rsekae of which are beyond its control. The risk andertainties described below are not
the only ones the Company faces. Set forth bal@discussion of the risks and uncertainties thahagement believes to be material to the
Company.

Economic Trends

Global economic conditions, such as the worldwidgisthat began in mid-2007, may create conditguth as a general tightening in the
credit markets, lower levels of liquidity, increasa the rates of default and bankruptcy, and ilitjain credit, equity and fixed income
markets. Any or all of these developments caratiegly affect the Company’s business, operatirsglte or financial condition in a number
of ways. For example, current or potential custanmeay be unable to fund capital spending prograes, product launches of other similar
endeavors whereby they might procure services frmmCompany, and therefore delay, decrease or lcanahases of services or not pay or
delay paying for previously purchased servicesaddition, these conditions may cause the Compaimctr increased expenses or make it
more difficult either to utilize existing debt cajity or otherwise obtain financing for operatiomsjesting activities (including the financing
any future acquisitions), or financing activitied, of which could adversely affect the Companysiness, financial condition and results of
operations.

Government Regulations

Staffing firms and employment service providersgaaerally subject to one or more of the followipges of government regulation:

(1) regulation of the employer/employee relatiopdietween a firm and its employees, including t&khwolding or reporting, social security
or retirement, benefits, workplace compliance, waige hour, anti-discrimination, immigration and kens’ compensation; (2) registration,
licensing, record keeping and reporting requirersieamd (3) federal contractor compliance. Faitareomply with these regulations could
result in the Company incurring penalties and ofiagilities, monetary and otherwise.

Highly Competitive Business

The staffing services and outsourcing markets myfejhcompetitive and have limited barriers to gntRCM competes in global, national,
regional, and local markets with numerous temposgaifing and permanent placement companies. Bdo®etition in the staffing industry
is significant and pricing pressures from competgitand customers are increasing. In additiongtigeincreasing pressure on companies to
outsource certain areas of their business to It affishore outsourcing firms. RCM expects thatldvel of competition will remain high in
the future, which could limit RCM’s ability to maain or increase its market share or profitabili@ur inability to compete successfully with
our competitors could adversely affect the Compsaliyisiness, financial condition and results of apens.

Seasonality of Business

As described in “Item 1. Business,” our operatiagults are subject to seasonal fluctuations, veittuced demand often occurring during first
guarter of the year when clients are finalizingrtleagineering and IT budgets, and also duringgaisrin which there are a substantial amount
of holidays and season vacations. In particulae, af the largest customers in our Specialty He@éhe group, the New York City
Department of Education, significantly reduces\astiduring the third quarter, when schools areselibfor summer recess. Our operating
results for any given period may fluctuate as altex the timing of holidays, vacations and otkeents, and if we were to experience
unfavorable performance during periods in whichweeild otherwise expect to have high seasonal deyvemdnay have limited ability to
make up for such performance during periods of@eally lower demand.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS (CONTINUED)

Future Proxy Contests

Stockholders of the Company may from time to timgasge in proxy solicitations, advance stockholdeppsals or otherwise attempt to
effect changes or acquire control over the Comp&aynpaigns by stockholders to effect changes digly#traded companies are sometimes
led by investors seeking to increase short-terrckstolder value by advocating corporate actions sugcfinancial restructuring, increased
borrowing, special dividends, stock repurchasesven sales of assets or the entire company.

We engaged in a proxy contest with a group of taglkdholders, which culminated at our annual stotdidas meeting held in December
2013. We entered into a settlement agreementthétistockholder group early in fiscal 2014. If kecome engaged in a proxy contest with
that stockholder group or another activist stociboin the future, our business could be adversiégcted because:

« responding to proxy contests and other actionschiyist stockholders can disrupt our operationscgtly and timesonsuming, ar
divert the attention of our Board and senior mansg@ from the pursuit of business strategies, witichld adversely affect t
Company's results of operations and financial dondi

« perceived uncertainties as to our future directisra result of changes to composition of our Boaay lead to the perception ¢
change in the direction of the business, instagbditlack of continuity which may be exploited byracompetitors, cause concert
our current or potential clients, may result in kbss of potential business opportunities and niak®re difficult to attract and rete
qualified personnel and business partn

« if individuals are elected to our Board with a dfie@agenda, it may adversely affect our abilityetifectively implement our busine
strategy and create additional value for our stolrdrs; anc

« a consequence of a proxy contest could be thaeittaally results in a “change in contraf the Company as such event is def
in the various agreements between the Company artdirt key members of management which could ensitich members
terminate their employment with the Company an@irecseverance payments which, if incurred, mayensly impact the financi
condition of the Compan

Events Affecting Significant Customers

As disclosed in “Item 1. Business,” the Companye ften and twenty largest customers accountedgproximately 48.1%, 61.4% and
69.8%, respectively, of revenues for the fiscalryeraded January 3, 2015. During the fiscal yededrdanuary 3, 2015, Ontario Power Gr
(the Company has primarily serviced Ontario Powené&ation as a subcontractor through Black and MelzbLimited) and United
Technologies Corporation accounted for 21.4% anfl%2f the Company’s revenues, respectively. Tam@any’s customers may be
affected by the current state of the economy oeligments in the credit markets or may engage imgens or similar transactions. In
addition, customers may choose to reduce the basihey do with RCM for other reasons or no reasdre Company could also be
materially impacted by actions of prime contractetereby the Company derives revenues through eosidactor relationship. Should any
significant customers experience a downturn inrtbesiness that weakens their financial conditiomerge with another company or
otherwise cease independent operation, or limit teationship with us, it is possible that thesmess that the customer does with the
Company would be reduced or eliminated, which caualdersely affect the Company’s business, finarcmatition and results of operations.

As discussed in the section of this Annual ReporForm 10-K entitled “Management’s Discussion andlsis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations,” OPG and B&M are engageaidispute regarding a large purchase order from @FRE&M with respect to which we
have been engaged as a subcontractor to B&M. Aamifary 3, 2015 we had outstanding accounts rdadeit@B&M of $4.9 million under
the disputed purchase order and, including suctuaina total of $12.2 million of outstanding acctsureceivable to B&M. We believe that
our accounts receivable with B&M remain collectjtdabject to existing reserves, but if a protradsgpute between OPG and B&M were to
occur, it could impact our ability to collect ountetanding accounts receivable in a timely manner.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS (CONTINUED)

Safety Concerns Regarding Nuclear Power Plants; Liitations on Insurance

Especially in light of the Fukushima Daiichi nualggant malfunction that occurred in March 2011wrand existing concerns are being
expressed in public forums about the safety ofearojenerating units and nuclear fuel. Among athiegs, these concerns have led to, and
are expected to continue to lead to, various pralsds regulators and governing bodies in somdit@sawhere nuclear facilities are located
for legislative and regulatory changes that coalttito the shutown of nuclear units, denial of license renewalli@ations, municipalizatio

of nuclear units, restrictions on nuclear unit®threr adverse effects on owning and operating augjenerating units. Should these concerns
or proposals lead to a diminishment of or reduageavth in the nuclear power industry, the Compargigineering segment, which has a
focus on the nuclear power industry, could be hdrraad the Company’s business, financial conditind results of operations could be
materially adversely affected.

In addition, our liability insurance does not coaecidents occurring at nuclear power faciliti€&hould we be found to be responsible for
such an event, we may not be able to cover relakimyages, and our business would be adverselytedfec

Subcontractors, Transit Accounts Receivable and Tnasit Accounts Payables Related to Construction Margement Contracts

The Company’s Engineering segment has enterecamamgements to provide construction managemeneagitheering services to
customers under which arrangements the Companyethgamges subcontractors to provide the construstiorices. Ultimately, as a primary
contractor, the Company is responsible for the edigpmance or negligence of its subcontractors,mitee Company requires to be
adequately insured and to issue performance bamdkdir assignment. Should a subcontractor ndbpa or act negligently and should
there be inadequate insurance or performance borgdace, the Company might not be able to mitigat@rimary liability to the customer,
and the Company’s business, financial conditionrasdlts of operations could be materially advegraffiected. In addition, while payments
to subcontractors typically are due from the Comypamly after the Company receives payment fromultienate customer, the Company
faces the risk that, should a customer not paymapany, or should a subcontractor demand paymeamtthe Company prior to the
Company’s receipt of payment from its customer,Gloenpany’s business, financial condition and resoftoperations could be materially
adversely affected.

Dependence Upon Personnel

The Company’s operations depend on the continded®bf its officers and other executive manageimdie loss of key officers and
members of executive management may cause a smmiifilisruption to the Company’s business.

RCM also depends on the performance and product¥itts local managers and field personnel. ThenBany’s ability to attract and retain
new business is significantly affected by locahtieinships and the quality of service renderede [b8s of key managers and field personnel
may also jeopardize existing client relationshiphwusinesses that continue to use the Compaeysgces based upon past relationships
with local managers and field personnel. In otddulfill the requirements of the Company’s custm) the Company must be able to recruit
and retain appropriate personnel for client asserts
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS (CONTINUED)

Revolving Credit Facility and Liquidity

If the Company were unable to borrow under its Rarg Credit Facility (see “Item 7. Management'ss€ussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity &wpital Resources — Financing Activities”), it magversely affect liquidity, results of
operations and financial condition. The Compatiggidity depends on its ability to generate suéfic cash flows from operations and, from
time to time, borrowings under the Revolving Crésitility with the Company’s agent lender Citiz&8@nk of Pennsylvania. The Company
believes that Citizens Bank is liquid and is notesvof any current risk that they will become lllid. At January 3, 2015, the Company had
$20.0 million in borrowings under the Revolving @ite-acility outstanding and $0.8 million outstamgliunder letters of credit. At January 3,
2015, the Company had availability for additionaffowings under the Revolving Credit Facility of452 million.

The Revolving Credit Facility contains various firiéal and non-financial covenants. At January@,52 the Company was in compliance
with the covenants and other provisions of the €ifeakility. Any failure to be in compliance coutdve a material adverse effect on liquic
results of operations and financial condition.

Foreign Currency Fluctuations and Changes in Exchage Rates

The Company is exposed to risks associated witigarcurrency fluctuations and changes in exchaatgs. RCM'’s exposure to foreign
currency fluctuations relates to operations in @angrincipally conducted through its Canadian gliag/. Exchange rate fluctuations affect
the U.S. dollar value of reported earnings derireth the Canadian operations as well as the cagryaiue of the Company’s investment in
the net assets related to these operations. Tim&uy does not engage in hedging activities wispeet to foreign operations.

Workers’ Compensation and Employee Medical Insurane

The Company self-insures a portion of the expoBurtosses related to workers’ compensation andl@yeps’ medical insurance. The
Company has established reserves for workers’ cosgtion and employee medical insurance claims baisdstorical loss statistics and
periodic independent actuarial valuations. Sigaifiit differences in actual experience or significdranges in assumptions may materially
affect the Company’s future financial results.

Improper Activities of Temporary Professionals Coutl Result in Damage to Business Reputation, Discontiation of Client
Relationships and Exposure to Liability

The Company may be subject to claims by clientsteel to errors and omissions, misuse of proprietdoymation, discrimination and
harassment, theft and other criminal activity, madgice, and other claims stemming from the impr@mtivities or alleged activities of
temporary professionals. There can be no assuthateurrent liability insurance coverage will dgequate or will continue to be availabl
sufficient amounts to cover damages or other asdeciated with such claims.

Claims raised by clients stemming from the impraopetions of temporary professionals, even if withoerit, could cause the Company to
incur significant expense associated with reworst€or other damages related to such claims. &wumibre, such claims by clients could
damage the Company’s business reputation and iegtk discontinuation of client relationships.

Acquisitions May Not Succeed
The Company reviews prospective acquisitions asl@ment of its growth strategy. The failure of ayguisition to meet the Company’s
expectations, whether due to a failure to succigsfilegrate any future acquisition or otherwisggy result in damage to the Company’s

financial performance and/or divert managementendibn from its core operations or could negayiadfect the Company'’s ability to meet
the needs of its customers promptly.

18




ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS (CONTINUED)

International Operations

The Company operates its business in Canada aade#s significant extent, in Puerto Rico. Ferfiscal year ended January 3, 2015,
approximately 27.8% of the Company’s revenues wereerated outside the United States. There at@irteisks inherent in conducting
business internationally including: the impositifitrade barriers, foreign exchange restrictidmsger payment cycles, greater difficulties in
accounts receivables collection, difficulties inmgaying with a variety of foreign laws, changedegal or regulatory requirements, difficult
in staffing and managing foreign operations, peditinstability and potentially adverse tax consames. To the extent the Company
experiences these risks, the business and reswafemtions could be adversely affected.

Trademarks

Management believes the RCM Technologies, Inc. narmagtremely valuable and important to its bussnd@fhe Company endeavors to
protect its intellectual property rights and maiimteertain trademarks, trade names, service mattother intellectual property rights,
including The Source of Smart Solutions®. The Campis not currently aware of any infringing use®ther conditions that would be
reasonably likely to materially and adversely aftbe Company’s use of its proprietary rights. Twmpany’s success depends on its ability
to successfully obtain and maintain, and prevesappropriation or infringement of, its intellectgpabperty, maintain trade secret protection,
and conduct operations without violating or infiimgyon the intellectual property rights of thirdrfi@s. Intellectual property litigation is
expensive and time-consuming, and it is often cliffi if not impossible, to predict the outcomesath litigation. If the Company is involved
in an intellectual property litigation, its busise$inancial condition and results of operationsldde materially adversely affected.

Data Center Capacity and Telecommunication Links

Uninterruptible Power Supply (UPS), card key accBss suppression, and environmental control systprotect RCM’s datacenter. All
systems are monitored on a 24/7 basis with aledapgbilities via voice or email. The telecommatimns architecture at RCM utilizes
managed private circuits from AT&T, which encompsprovisioning redundancy and diversity.

The Company'’s ability to protect its data centaaiagt damage from fire, power loss, telecommuroeetifailure and other disasters is critical
to business operations. In order to provide mdnisaervices, RCM must be able to store, retrigvecess and manage large databases and
periodically expand and upgrade its capabilitidey damage to the Company’s data centers or ahyréanf the Company’s
telecommunication links that interrupts its operas or results in an inadvertent loss of data cadicersely affect the Company’s ability to
meet its customers’ needs and their confidencdilining the Company for future services.

RCM'’s ability to protect its data, provide servi@wl safeguard its installations, as it relatetheéd T infrastructure, is in part dependent on
several outside vendors with whom the Company ra@istservice level agreements.

Cyber Security

We are highly dependent on information technologsteans to operate our business. A breakdown, iaaasbrruption, destruction or
interruption of critical information technology s$gms by employees, others with authorized accesarteystems or unauthorized persons
could negatively impact operations. In the ordinasurse of business, we collect, store and transonifidential information and it is critical
that we do so in a secure manner to maintain thédmmntiality and integrity of such information. déditionally, we outsource certain elements
of our information technology systems to third et As a result of this outsourcing, our thirdtpaendors may or could have access to our
confidential information making such systems vudtde. Data breaches of our information technogstems, or those of our third party
vendors, may pose a risk that sensitive data maxpesed to unauthorized persons or to the pulilibile we believe that we have taken
appropriate security measures to protect our daddrdormation technology systems, and have befmrired by our third party vendors that
they have as well, there can be no assurance thatfforts will prevent breakdowns or breachesun gystems, or those of our third party
vendors, that could adversely affect our business.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS (CONTINUED)

Litigation
The Company is currently, and may in the futureobee, involved in legal proceedings and claims lagigiom time to time in the course of

its business. An adverse outcome in any suclatitg could have an adverse impact on the condetidénancial position, consolidated
results of operations and cash flows of the Company

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The Company provides specialty professional comgufervices, principally performed at various wli®cations, through 30 administrative
and sales offices located in the United Statesit®@ico and Canada. The majority of the Companoffises typically consist of 1,000 to
15,000 square feet and are typically leased bytrapany for terms of one to three years. Offiodsiger or smaller markets may vary in
size from the typical office. The Company doesexqiect that it will be difficult to maintain omfil suitable lease space at reasonable rates il
its markets or in areas where the Company contdagpéxpansion.

The Company’s executive office is located at 250CMIlan Avenue, Suite 350, Pennsauken, New J&8&99-4613. These premises
consist of approximately 11,200 square feet andessed at a rate of approximately $14.50 per sgigat per annum for a term ending on
June 30, 2020.

The Company’s operational office is located at 2&t&Wiew Boulevard, # Floor, Parsippany, NJ 07054-1271. These premizesist of

approximately 16,000 square feet and are leasadate of approximately $21.00 per square foopaum for a term ending on October 31,
2018.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, the Company is a defendant aingiff in various legal actions that arise in ti@mal course of business. As such, the
Company is required to assess the likelihood ofadwerse outcomes to these matters as well astjgbtemges of losses and possible
recoveries. The Company may not be covered byanse as it pertains to some or all of these nmsttArdetermination of the amount of the
provision required for these commitments and cgamties, if any, which would be charged to earnimgmade after careful analysis of each
matter. Once established, a provision may chamgjeei future due to new developments or changesdomstances, and could increase or
decrease the Company’s earnings in the periodhbathanges are made. As of January 3, 2015,ahg@ny did not accrue for any such
liabilities. Asserted claims in these matters sggroximately $7.6 million in damages as of Jap3a2015.

The Company is also subject to other pending Ipgadeedings and claims that arise from time to tim#he ordinary course of its busine
which may not be covered by insurance.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable
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PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOC KHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Shares of the Company’s common stock are tradéicherNASDAQ Global Market under the Symbol “RCMTThe following table sets
forth approximate high and low sales prices fortthe years in the period ended January 3, 2018p@mted by The NASDAQ Global Mark

Common Stock

Fiscal Year Ended December 28, 201 High Low
First Quarte! $6.31 $5.0(
Second Quarte $6.2¢ $5.2¢
Third Quartel $6.1( $5.2¢
Fourth Quarte $6.9¢ $5.7¢

Fiscal Year Ended January 3, 201!
First Quartel $7.22 $6.02
Second Quarte $6.9¢ $6.0:
Third Quartel $7.8- $6.02
Fourth Quarte $9.2¢ $6.3¢

Holders

As of February 11, 2015, the approximate numbérodders of record of the Company’s Common Stock #i Based upon the requests for
proxy information in connection with the Compan2®14 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, the Comparlieties the number of beneficial
owners of its Common Stock is approximately 3,128.

Dividends

On December 30, 2014, the Company paid to stockihsldf record on December 26, 2014 a special cagledd of $2.00 per share of
common stock. The Company also accrued $2.00haee ®n 500,000 unvested restricted stock unitsreétricted stock units contain a
dividend equivalent provision entitling holdersdiidends paid between the restricted stock urihgdate and ultimate share distribution
date. The accrued dividend will be paid when #sdricted stock units vest, 267,500 in fiscal 2@BB500 in fiscal 2016 and 200,000 in fiscal
2017. Dividends on any forfeited restricted staoks will be forfeited. Prior to fiscal 2014, tikmpany had only ever paid one dividenc
its Common Stock, a special dividend of $1.00 pears in fiscal 2012. As of January 3, 2015, thenfany had $1.3 million total accrued
dividends due and payable from its dividends dedan fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2014. As of Decenif#r2013, the Company had $0.3
million total accrued dividends due and payablenfits dividend declared in fiscal 2012.

Approximately 3.5% of the special fiscal 2014 cdshdend was treated as an ordinary taxable divddamd the approximate balance of
96.5% was treated as a return of capital to thergxdf the recipient’s tax basis, or a capital ghereafter. Approximately 14.5% of the
special fiscal 2012 cash dividend was treated agdinary taxable dividend and the approximate m@deof 85.5% was treated as a return of
capital to the extent of the recipient’s tax basisa capital gain thereafter.

Any future payment of dividends will depend upomaag other things, the Company’s earnings, findrogiadition, capital requirements,
level of indebtedness, contractual restrictions, ater factors that the Board of Directors deeshsvant. The Revolving Credit Facility (as
discussed in Item 7 hereof) prohibits the payméiaing dividends or distributions on account of @@mpany’s capital stock without the prior
consent of the majority of the Company’s lendeBsich consent was received prior to the fiscal 201d2012 distributions.
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ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES (CONTINUED)

Stock Repurchase by Issuer

On October 28, 2013, the Board of Directors auteatian additional repurchase program to purchase $p.0 million of outstanding shares
of common stock at the prevailing market pricesirfitime to time over the subsequent 12-month per@d September 30, 2014, the Board
extended this repurchase program through Octohe2@®I5. As of January 3, 2015, the Company haghaathased any shares under this
additional repurchase program. The Company didrdmase 3,474 shares in fiscal 2014 in order tilitite employees exercising stock
options to sell shares back to the Company to farabligations associated with the exercise aflstaptions.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Not required
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

RCM participates in a market that is cyclical irura and sensitive to economic changes. As atrékalimpact of economic changes on
revenues and operations can be substantial, regudtisignificant volatility in the Company’s fineial performance.

The Company experienced an increase in revenuasgdbe fiscal year ended January 3, 2015 as cadgarthe comparable prior year
period. The Company experienced revenue growttbd%, 7.1% and 21.1% in its Engineering, Informafi@chnology and Specialty He:
Care segments, respectively.

The Company believes it has developed and asserablatiractive portfolio of capabilities, estabégha proven record of performance and
credibility and built an efficient pricing struceir The Company is committed to optimizing its bess model as a single-source premier
provider of business and technology solutions &i#iirong vertical focus offering an integratedesoit services through a global delivery
platform.

The Company believes that most companies recogimézenportance of advanced technologies and buspregesses to compete in today’s
business climate. However, the process of degigeieveloping and implementing business and tecigyadolutions is becoming
increasingly complex. The Company believes thatynfausinesses today are focused on return on imessgtanalysis in prioritizing their
initiatives. This has had an adverse impact omdipg by current and prospective clients for mamgrging new solutions.

Nonetheless, the Company continues to believebiligihesses must implement more advanced enginesrthinformation technoloc
solutions to upgrade their systems, applicatioms@ncesses so that they can maximize their prodiycand optimize their performance in
order to maintain a competitive advantage. Althougrking under budgetary, personnel and expettsstraints, companies are driven to
support increasingly complex systems, applicatanm processes of significant strategic value. fhsgiven rise to a demand for
outsourcing. The Company believes that its curaent prospective clients are continuing to evalttaepotential for outsourcing business
critical systems, applications and processes.

The Company provides project management and camgskervices, which are billed based on either edpgon fixed fees or hourly rates,
a combination of both. The billing rates and grofargins for project management and solutionsicesvare generally higher than those for
professional consulting services. The Company @gdéilgeendeavors to expand its sales of higher mesglutions and project management
services. The Company also realizes revenues dtiemt engagements that range from the placemecdrfact and temporary technical
consultants to project assignments that entaititliwery of end-to-end solutions. These servigegpaimarily provided to the client at hourly
rates that are established for each of the Compamyisultants based upon their skill level, expegeand the type of work performed.

The majority of the Company’s services are provideder purchase orders. Contracts are utilizeckotain of the more complex
assignments where the engagements are for longes t& where precise documentation on the natweseope of the assignment is
necessary. Although contracts normally relatetmér-term and more complex engagements, they dobtigate the customer to purchase a
minimum level of services and are generally terini@dy the customer on 60 to 90 dagstice. The Company, from time to time, enters
contracts requiring the completion of specific detables. Typically these contracts are for lbas tone year. The Company recognizes
revenue on these deliverables at the time thet@ierepts and approves the deliverables.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

Overview (Continued)

Costs of services consist primarily of salaries emthpensation-related expenses for billable coastdtand employees, including payroll
taxes, employee benefits and insurance. Selliagegl and administrative expenses consist priynafisalaries and benefits of personnel
responsible for business development, recruitipgrating activities, and training, and include cvgte overhead expenses. Corporate
overhead expenses relate to salaries and bengfiessonnel responsible for corporate activitias|uding the Company’s corporate
marketing, administrative and financial reportiegponsibilities and acquisition program. The Comyp&cords these expenses when
incurred.

Critical Accounting Policies

The Company’s consolidated financial statementewweepared in accordance with U.S. generally aedeptcounting principles, which
require management to make subjective decisiosssaments and estimates about the effect of m#ttdrare inherently uncertain. As the
number of variables and assumptions affectingutdgrent increases, such judgments become evensuljective. While management
believes its assumptions are reasonable and ajguepactual results may be materially differentnirestimated. Management has identified
certain critical accounting policies, describedolelthat require significant judgment to be exaxdiby management.

Revenue Recognition

The Company derives its revenues from several ssurthe Compang’ Engineering Services and Information Technologyvise:
segments perform consulting and project solutia@rgices. All of the Compang’segments perform staff augmentation servicesdanie
revenue from permanent placement fees. The majufrthe Company’s revenues are invoiced on a ingematerials basis.

Project Service- The Company recognizes revenues in accordanbecwitent revenue recognition standards under ABwhich clarifies
application of U.S. generally accepted accountimgciples to revenue transactions. Project sesvare generally provided on a cost-plus,
fixed-fee or time-and-material basis. Typicallyciesstomer will outsource a discrete project ondtytiand the Company assumes
responsibility for the performance of such projeccactivity. The Company recognizes revenues asda@ated costs on a gross basis as
services are provided to the customer and costsenered using its employees. The Company, frione to time, enters into contracts
requiring the completion of specific deliverabléghe Company may recognize revenues on these daies at the time the client accepts
and approves the deliverables. In instances wireject services are provided on a fixed-price $asd the contract will extend beyond a 12-
month period, revenue is recorded in accordande tivé terms of each contract. In some instaneegnue is billed at the time certain
milestones are reached, as defined in the contRetenues under these arrangements are recogrsizbd costs on these contracts are
incurred. Amounts invoiced in excess of revengesgnized are recorded as deferred revenue, irindeccounts payable and accrued
expenses on the accompanying balance sheetshdninstances, revenue is billed and recorded based contractual rates per hour (i.e.,
percentage of completion). In addition, some catraontain “Performance Fees” (bonuses) for cotimge contract under

budget. Performance Fees, if any, are recorded whmed. Some contracts also limit revenues dlirthb to specified maximum

amounts. Provision for contract losses, if ang,rande in the period such losses are determinedcdntracts where there is a deliverable,
the work is not complete on a specific deliveradid the revenue is not recognized, the costs deerdd. The associated costs are expensed
when the related revenue is recognized.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

Revenue Recognition (Continued)

Consulting and Staffing ServicdRevenues derived from consulting and staffing sesvare recorded on a gross basis as services are
performed and associated costs have been incusied employees of the Company. These servicetypielly billed on a time and mater
basis.

In certain cases, the Company may utilize otherpamies and their employees to fulfill customer regruents. In these cases, the Company
receives an administrative fee for arranging fdlinig for, and collecting the billings related these companies. The customer is typically
responsible for assessing the work of these corapamino have responsibility for acceptability ofithgersonnel to the customer. Under tr
circumstances, the Company’s reported revenuesedref associated costs (effectively recogniziregrtat administrative fee only).

Transit Receivables and Transit Payablégem time to time, the Company’s Engineering sedreeters into agreements to provide, among
other things, construction management and engimgegrvices. In certain circumstances, the Compaay acquire equipment as a
purchasing agent for the client for a fee. Purstmthese agreements, the Company may: a) engégerstractors to provide construction or
other services or contracts with manufacturersedralf of the Company’s clients to procure equipnerfixtures; b) typically earns a fixed
percentage of the total project value or a negadiatark-up on subcontractor or procurement chagesfee and ¢) assumes no ownership or
risks of inventory. In such situations, the Compaats as an agent under the provisions of “Ov€rafisiderations of Reporting Revenue
Gross as a Principal versus Net as an Agent” agrefibre recognizing revenue on a “net-basis.” Chepany records revenue on a “net”
basis on relevant engineering and construction gemant projects, which require subcontractor/prexent costs or transit costs. In those
situations, the Company charges the client a nagatifee, which is reported as net revenue wheredarDuring the fifty-three week period
ended January 3, 2015, total gross billings, inalgdboth transit cost billings and the Compangarned fees, was $72.6 million, for which
Company recognized $41.0 million of its net feeeaeenue. During the fifty-two week period ended:@mber 28, 2013, total gross billings,
including both transit cost billings and the Comyarearned fees, was $67.3 million, for which then@any recognized $30.7 million of its
net fee as revenue.

Under the terms of the agreements, the Compairypiisally not required to pay the subcontractor uritleEngineering contracts or staffing
agencies under the Information Technology contatit after the corresponding payment from the Canys client is received. Upon
invoicing the end client on behalf of the subcoctiva or staffing agency the Company records thiswamhsimultaneously as both a “transit
account receivable” and “transit account payabteth@ amount when paid to the Company is due tagyandrally paid to the subcontractor
within a few days. The Company typically does p@y a given transit account payable until the eeldtansit account receivable is
collected. The Company’s transit accounts payablelly exceeds the Company’s transit accountsvadaie but absolute amounts and
spreads fluctuate significantly from quarter to m@ain the normal course of business. The tragibunts receivable was $3.8 million and
related transit accounts payable was $6.7 milkonet payable of $2.9 million, as of January 3,5201

Permanent Placement Servic- The Company earns permanent placement fees fronmidprg permanent placement services. Fee
placements are recognized at the time the candidaiemences employment. The Company guarantegseitaanent placements ol
prorated basis for 90 days. In the event a catalidanot retained for the Qfay period, the Company will provide a suitablelaepmer
candidate. In the event a replacement candidaeotdoe located, the Company will provide a pratatfund to the client. An allowance
refunds, based upon the Company'’s historical egpe€, is recorded in the financial statements.eRaes are recorded on a gross basis.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

Accounts Receivable

The Company’s accounts receivable are primarilyfdoa trade customers. Credit is extended baseslvatuation of customers’ financial
condition and, generally, collateral is not reqdiréccounts receivable payment terms vary andtated in the financial statements at
amounts due from customers net of an allowancddabtful accounts. Accounts outstanding longen tin@ payment terms are considered
past due. The Company determines its allowanadhsgidering a number of factors, including the tbraf time trade accounts receivable
past due, the Company’s previous loss historycttstomer’s current ability to pay its obligationtt® Company and the condition of the
general economy and the industry as a whole. Tdmpany writes off accounts receivable when theybecuncollectible.

The Company'’s allowance for doubtful accounts elgpeed a negligible increase as it was approxim&e&Il0 million as of January 3, 2015
and December 28, 2013.

Goodwill

Gooduwill represents the premium paid over thevaltie of the net tangible and intangible assetsie®d in business combinations. The
Company is required to assess the carrying valits oéporting units that contain goodwill at leastan annual basis in order to determine if
any impairment in value has occurred. The Compeasythe option to first assess qualitative fadimidetermine whether it is necessary to
perform a two-step impairment test. An assessniethibge qualitative factors or the applicationto# goodwill impairment test requires
significant judgment including but not limited toet assessment of the business, its managemeneaathmarket conditions, estimation of
future cash flows, which is dependent on internatéasts, estimation of the long-term rate of ghofet the businesses, the useful life over
which cash flows will occur and determination ofiglged average cost of capital. Changes in themates and assumptions could
materially affect the determination of fair valugdéor conclusions on goodwill impairment for eaeparting unit. The Company formally
assesses these qualitative factors and, if negessarducts its annual goodwill impairment tesbithe last day of the Company’s fiscal
November each year, or more frequently if indicaimirimpairment exist. The Company periodicallglgmes whether any such indicators
impairment exist. A significant amount of judgméntnvolved in determining if an indicator of impaent has occurred. Such indicators
may include a sustained, significant decline irrshpice and market capitalization, a decline ipested future cash flows, a significant
adverse change in legal factors or in the busioéssite, unanticipated competition, a material deim management or other key personnel
and/or slower expected growth rates, among othete to the thin trading of the Company stock ia plublic marketplace and the impact of
the control premium held by a relatively few shailders, the Company does not consider the markustatiaation of the Company the most
appropriate measure of fair value of goodwill for oeporting units. The Company looks to earniry@nue multiples of similar companies
recently completing acquisitions and the abilityoaf reporting units to generate cash flows aebeteasures of the fair value of our
reporting units. The Company compares the fauwealf each of its reporting units to their respaxtarrying values, including related
goodwill. There can be no assurance that futugts @ goodwill impairment will not result in impaient charges. During all periods
presented, the Company determined that the exigtiafjtative factors did not suggest that an impaint of goodwill exists. Since there h:
been no indicators of impairment, the Company laparformed a quantitative impairment test.

Long-Lived and Intangible Assets
The Company evaluates long-lived assets and irtiengssets with definite lives for impairment whesreevents or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset noayoa recoverable. When it is probable that urtdiated future cash flows will not be

sufficient to recover an asset’s carrying amourg,dsset is written down to its fair value. Assetse disposed of by sale, if any, are reported
at the lower of the carrying amount or fair valaed cost to sell.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

Accounting for Stock Options and Restricted Stock WUits

The Company uses stock options and restricted stoite to attract, retain and reward employeesldag-term service. The Compa
follows “Share-Based Payment,” which requires thatcompensation cost relating to std@sed payment transactions be recognized
financial statements. This compensation cost iasued based on the fair value of the equity dailitg instruments issued. The Compi
measures stock-based compensation cost using #o&-Btholes option pricing model for stock options &mel fair value of the underlyil
common stock at the date of grant for restrictedkstinits.

Insurance Liabilities

The Company has risk participation arrangementis reispect to workers compensation and health nateance. The Company establishes
loss provisions based on historical experienceilatide case of expected losses from workers congpiens considers input from third
parties. The amounts included in the Company’sscadated to this risk participation are estimaad can vary based on changes in
assumptions, the Company'’s claims experience opribtviders included in the associated insurancgraros.

Accounting for Income Taxes

In establishing the provision for income taxes datkrred income tax assets and liabilities, andatadn allowances against deferred tax
assets, the Company makes judgments and inteipretdtased on enacted tax laws, published tax go&and estimates of future

earnings. As of January 3, 2015, the Company batkdtic short term deferred tax assets of $0.8amjltotal domestic long term net
deferred income tax assets of $0.7 million andreifm short-term deferred tax liability of $0.2 hah. The domestic short term deferred tax
assets primarily represent the tax effect of aatripenses which will be deductible for tax purgoséhin a twelve month period. The
domestic long term deferred tax assets primarpyasent the tax effect of temporary differencestierGAAP versus tax amortization of
intangibles arising from acquisitions made in pperiods. Realization of deferred tax assetgpeddent upon the likelihood that future
taxable income will be sufficient to realize thémmefits over time, and the effectiveness of taxiping strategies in the relevant tax
jurisdictions. In the event that actual resulf§edifrom these estimates and assessments, valugtmvances may be require

The Company conducts its operations in multiplejasisdictions in the United States, Canada andtBuRico. The Company and its
subsidiaries file a consolidated U.S. Federal inedax return and file in various states. The Comgjsafederal income tax returns have been
examined through 2010. The Internal Revenue Seisicurrently examining fiscal tax years 2011 aadi2. The State of New Jersey is
currently examining fiscal tax years 2009 throug@i2 With limited exceptions, the Company is nager subject to audits by state and local
tax authorities for tax years prior to 2010.

The Company’s future effective tax rates could theeasely affected by changes in the valuationfiéferred tax assets or liabilities or
changes in tax laws or interpretations thereo&ddition, the Company is subject to the examinadibits income tax returns by the Internal
Revenue Service and other tax authorities. The @ompegularly assesses the likelihood of adverseomes resulting from these
examinations to determine the adequacy of its giorifor income taxes.

There were no changes to unrecognized tax beukfitsg the comparable prior year period.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

Accrued Bonuses

The Company pays bonuses to certain executive neamagf, field management and corporate employeesilmas or after giving
consideration to, a variety of financial performameeasures. Executive management, field manageandrtertain corporate employees’
bonuses are accrued throughout the year for paytheintg the first quarter of the following yearsed in part upon anticipated annual res
compared to annual budgets. In addition, the Camppays discretionary bonuses to certain employekich are not related to budget
performance. Variances in actual results versugétad amounts can have a significant impact ocdlmilations and therefore on the
estimates of the required accruals. Accordindlg,dctual earned bonuses may be materially différem the estimates used to determine
quarterly accruals.

Forward-looking Information

The Company’s growth prospects are influenced lbadhieconomic trends. The pace of customer cagmtaiding programs, new product
launches and similar activities have a direct inhjpacthe need for engineering and information tedtgy services. When the U.S., Canac
or global economies decline, the Company’s opaggigrformance could be adversely impacted. Thepgaom believes that its fiscal
discipline, strategic focus on targeted verticatkats and diversification of service offerings poms some insulation from adverse
trends. However, declines in the economy couldltés the need for future cost reductions or ctemnip strategy.

Additionally, changes in government regulationslda@sult in prohibition or restriction of certaiypes of employment services or the
imposition of new or additional employee benefitgnsing or tax requirements with respect to thevision of employment services that n
reduce the Company’s future earnings. There camolassurance that the Company will be able teas® the fees charged to its clients in a
timely manner and in a sufficient amount to coveréased costs as a result of any of the foregoing.

The consulting and employment services marketghliiicompetitive with limited barriers to entry.h& Company competes in global,
national, regional and local markets with numercaspetitors in all of the Company’s service lin€ice competition in the industries the
Company serves is significant, and pricing presstn@n competitors and customers are increasirige Jompany expects that the level of
competition will remain high in the future, whicbudd limit the Company’s ability to maintain or me@se its market share or profitability.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

Results of Operations ($ in thousands)

Fiscal Years Ende

January 3, 201 December 28, 201
% of % of
Amount Revenue Amount Revenue

Revenue! $193,77! 100.( $170,77: 100.(
Cost of service 142,07 73.% 126,41 74.C
Gross profit 51,69: 26.7 44,36 26.C
Selling, general and administrati 39,86¢ 20.€ 35,51« 20.¢
Severance and other char 104 0.C 5,181 3.C
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,20:% 0.€ 1,111 0.7
Operating costs and expen: 41,17¢ 21.2 41,80¢ 24.5
Operating incom: 10,51¢ 5.k 2,55¢ 1kt
Other income, ne 83 0.C 32 0.C
Income before income tax 10,60: 5.t 2,58 1.t
Income tax expens 3,78 2.C 597 0.3
Net income $6,81¢ 3.5 $1,99( 1.2

The above summary is not a presentation of restibperations under generally accepted accountimgiples in the United States of
America and should not be considered in isolatioasoan alternative to results of operations agdination of the Company’s performance.

The Company follows a 52/53 week fiscal reportiatendar ending on the Saturday closest to DeceBibeilhe fiscal year ended January 3,
2015 (fiscal 2014) had fifty-three weeks and tlsedl year ended December 28, 2013 (fiscal 2013Jifigdwo weeks.

Fiscal Year Ended January 3, 2015 Compared to Fistdear Ended December 28, 2013

Revenues. Revenues increased 13.5%, or $23.0 million,Herfiscal year ended January 3, 2015 as compartbe farior fiscal year (the
“comparable prior year period”). Revenues incrda&E3.0 million in the Engineering segment, $6.1liom in the Information Technology
segment and $3.9 million in the Specialty HealtheGaegment. See Segment Discussion for furtherrirdtion on revenue changes.

Cost of Services. Cost of services increased 12.4%, or $15.7 millfor the fiscal year ended January 3, 2015 agpeoed to the comparat
prior year period. The increase in cost of sewiwas primarily due to the increase in revenuesst 6f services as a percentage of revenues
decreased to 73.3% for the fiscal year ended Jard @015 from 74.0% for the comparable prior y@aiod. The decrease in cost of serv

as a percentage of revenues was primarily duegteehigross margins in the Company’s Informationhifetogy and Engineering

segments. See Segment Discussion for furthermrdtion regarding changes in cost of services as@eptage of revenues.
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Fiscal Year Ended January 3, 2015 Compared to Fist&ear Ended December 28, 2013 (Continued)

Selling, General and Administrative. Selling, general and administrative (“SGA”) expes increased 12.3%, or $4.4 million, for the fisca
year ended January 3, 2015 as compared to the cabiparior year period. The increase in SGA expemas primarily due to investment
personnel and infrastructure necessary to supitehrevenues. SGA expense as a percentageafues decreased modestly to 20.6% for
the fiscal year ended January 3, 2015 as compar2d.8% for the comparable prior year period. S&pense as a percentage of revenues
decreased due to the increase in revenues.

Severance and Other Charges.The Company incurred $0.1 million in severance aftner charges in the for the fiscal year endeddiy 3
2015 as compared to $5.2 million in the comparghbler year period. The costs in the current pepdrharily related to professional fees
associated with the settlement agreements entetedoillowing the Company’s fiscal 2013 proxy castteln the prior fiscal year, the
Company incurred severance and other related egpais$2.9 million as a result of the retirementhef Company’s former CEO, Leon
Kopyt, as well as $1.6 million related to the praontest leading to the December 5, 2013 stockhahdeting, consisting of $1.0 million
incurred by the Company and $0.6 million incurrgdliee stockholder group, which the Company agreeeéimburse. The Company also
incurred $0.5 million in facilities consolidatiomarges and $0.2 million in professional fees relatea research and development tax credit
study. The Company may incur significant additlafarges in fiscal 2015 related to continuingdésearch and development tax credit s
started in fiscal 2013.

Other Income, Net. Other income, net consists of interest expensesed line fees and amortized loan costs on thep@oy's loan
agreement, net of interest income, gains and lagsdareign currency transactions and any otheraperating items incurred from time to
time. The Company reduced its contingent constaerdor both the fiscal year ended January 3, 2&1idthe comparable prior year period
by $0.1 million.

Income Tax Expense. The Company recognized $3.8 million of incomeéapense for the fifty-three week period ended dan8, 2015 as
compared to $0.6 million for the comparable prieayperiod. Income tax expense increased duetmdehease in income before income
taxes. Income tax expense for the fifty-two weekigdl ended December 28, 2013 reflects a redubtidd0.5 million resulting from a
reduction in a previously unrecognized tax ber(gdiiscrete adjustment”). The consolidated effeciiveome tax rate for the current period
was 35.7% as compared to 41.4% prior to the impfitte discrete adjustment for the comparable préar period. The consolidated
effective income tax rate decreased for the fifisee week period ended January 3, 2015 as compmtied comparable prior year period
primarily because the Company’s Canadian incomerbdtxes increased as a percentage of total inbefioee taxes.
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Fiscal Year Ended January 3, 2015 Compared to Fist&ear Ended December 28, 2013 (Continued)
Segment Discussion (See Note 14 to the Consolidatédancial Statements)
Engineering

Engineering revenues of $99.7 million in the fiftyree week period ended January 3, 2015 increaks&0 $illion, or 15.0%, as compared to
the comparable prior year period. The increasepsiasarily due to an increase in revenues of $h@llon in the Company’s Canadian
Engineering group. The Engineering segment opeyaticome was $7.0 million for the fifty-three wegdriod ended January 3, 2015 as
compared to $4.3 million for the comparable prieayperiod. Operating income increased primatily th the substantial increase in
revenues, a decrease in cost of services as anpegeeof revenues and a decrease in severancetarctharges of $0.3 million, offset by an
increase in SGA expenses. Cost of services arcariage of revenues decreased to 76.1% for tlentyseriod from 77.3% for the
comparable prior year period. The decrease wasapily due to the completion at the end of the Canys second fiscal quarter 2014 of a
large fixed priced contract with costs that sigrafitly exceeded estimates. SGA expenses incrégsktl6 million due to increased
investment in the Company’s Canadian Engineeringidin and the Technical Publications group as ate experienced increased demand
for their services.

Information Technology

Information Technology revenues of $59.2 milliorthe fifty-three week period ended January 3, 28tEeased $3.9 million, or 7.1%, as
compared to the comparable prior year period. Iff@mation Technology segment operating income $&8 million for the fifty-three
week period ended January 3, 2015 as compared3aiillion in the comparable prior year period. eTihcrease in operating income was
primarily due to an increase in revenues and aedserin cost of services as a percentage of resermst of services as a percentage of
revenues decreased to 69.7% from 71.3% for the amabfe prior year period primarily due to a conidweffort by the Company to focus on
higher margin services.

Specialty Health Care

Specialty Health Care revenues of $34.8 milliothia fifty-three week period ended January 3, 20t5dased $6.1 million, or 21.1%, as
compared to the comparable prior year period. primaary reason for the increase in the revenuethSpecialty Health Care segment
related to an increase of $4.6 million in revenfnem the segment’s Honolulu office. Specialty Healare's operating income for the fifty-
three week period ended January 3, 2015 was $0lidnmas compared to $1.0 million for the compaeaptior year period. The decrease in
operating income was due primarily to an increasgost of services as a percentage of revenuearamtrease in SGA expense. Cost of
services as a percentage of revenues increasdds¥ from 69.5% for the comparable prior year gridhe increase was primarily due to a
tightening of the labor supply in Specialty Hedltare’'s core markets and the segnegeographic and services expansion efforts, wihiak
thus far garnered lower gross profit margins thengegment has typically achieved in its primamyggaphic region and services. The
increase in SGA expenses of $1.8 million was prilypdue to increased investments in expanding $iydHealth Care’s geographic
footprint and several new service lines as welragncreased allocation of the Company’s corpds&@é expense.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table summarizes the major captionsifthe Company’s Consolidated Statements of ChshasF
($ in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ende

January 3, December 28,
2015 2013
Cash provided by (used ir
Operating activitie! $4,18: ($3,799)
Investing activities ($2,167) ($1,329)
Financing activitie: ($4,57) $29(

Operating Activities

Operating activities provided $4.2 million of cédeh the fifty-three week period ended January 3,28s compared to using $3.8 million in
the comparable prior year period. The major coreptsof the cash used in operating activities énfifity-three week period ended January
3, 2015 and the comparable prior year period afelsvs: net income and changes in accounts redéy the net of transit accounts payable
and transit accounts receivable, prepaid expemmksther current assets, accounts payable andeatespenses and accrued payroll and
related costs.

Net income for the fift-three week period ended January 3, 2015 was $ili8mas compared to $2.0 million for the compdeaprior year
period. An increase in accounts receivables ififtyethree week period ended January 3, 2015 $&kfl million as compared to $12.5
million in the comparable prior year period. ThenGmany primarily attributes the increase in accouatgivables for the fifty-three week
period ended January 3, 2015 to an increase imu@geas compared to levels in the second halscélfi2013 and increases in balances with
two major customers that experienced proceduraésselated to invoicing that caused a signifidatrtease in those customers accounts
receivable balances as of January 3, 2015. Thep@oynanticipates improved accounts receivable bakrelative to revenues as these two
clients improve in the first half of fiscal 2015.

The Company’s transit accounts payable generaligeds the Company’s transit accounts receivabtegtimolute amounts and differences
fluctuate significantly from quarter to quartertire normal course of business. The net of trasibunts payable and transit accounts
receivable was a net liability of $2.9 million asJanuary 3, 2015 and was a negligible net assaft @ecember 28, 2013, so the cash impact
during the fifty-three week period ended Januarg(3,5 provided $2.9 million in cash. The net ofess transit accounts payable over transit
accounts receivable decreased from $2.0 millioof &@ecember 29, 2012 to a marginal net excessaabir accounts receivable in excess of
transit accounts payable as of December 28, 20&8lby using $2.0 million in cash for the fifty-tweek period ended December 28, 2013.

Prepaid expenses and other current assets usethifbh in cash for the fifty-three week perioddad January 3, 2015 as compared to a
negligible impact in the comparable prior year péri The increase to prepaid expenses and othemtwassets during the current period
primarily resulted from prepaid insurance premiwand income tax deposits.

A decrease in accounts payable and accrued expessd$3.0 million for the fifty-three week periedded January 3, 2015 as compared to
providing $3.7 million for the comparable prior ygeeriod. The Company attributes these changgeneral timing of payments to vendors
in the normal course of business. An increasednueed payroll and related costs for the fifty-thmeeek period ended January 3, 2015 used
$2.3 million in cash as compared to providing $#i0ion for the comparable prior year period. Tgrémary reason for the decrease in
accrued payroll and related costs during the ctiperiod was from a $2.7 million severance paynetthe Company’s former President and
CEO that was accrued in fiscal 2013 and paid dutiegCompany’s fiscal third quarter 2014.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources (Continued)
I nvesting Activities

Investing activities used cash of $2.2 million foe fifty-three week period ended January 3, 2Gl8cempared to $1.3 million in the
comparable prior year period. The primary reaswritfe increase in cash used by investment aetdtias due to increased expenditures on
property and equipment as the Company acquirediiflibn in property and equipment in the currestipd as compared to $1.4 million in
the comparable prior year period. The Company ieee$1.2 million in property and equipment in then@any’s growing Engineering
segment and $0.8 million in upgrades to the Comiganyernal information technology infrastructur€he Company has decided to purchase
and implement a new project management softwatéophain early 2015, initially for its Canadian Engering division. The implementati

is anticipated to take at least six months anddta cost for the first phase is expected to bmash as $1.0 million. The Company
anticipates that it may extend this new project aggment software platform to its United States B@giing divisions and possibly its
Information Technology segment. At this time, @@mpany cannot estimate these additional coste. Cimpany utilizes SAP software for
its financial reporting and accounting system whigs implemented in 1999 and has not undergondisem upgrades since its initial
implementation. The Company believes that it sitome necessary to upgrade or replace its SARcigaeporting and accounting syste
perhaps as early as the second half of fiscal Bit®nore likely some time in fiscal 2016. The C@myp estimates this upgrade or
replacement of SAP will cost somewhere between #illibn and $2.0 million. These estimates arejscito change.

Financing Activities

Financing activities used $4.6 million of cash ttoe fifty-three week period ended January 3, 2Gl8cenpared to providing $0.3 million of
cash in the comparable prior year period. The Campaid a special cash dividend of $25.3 milliobiecember 2014 and borrowed $20.0
million under its line of credit with Citizens Bamé finance the bulk of the special cash dividemtie balance of the special cash dividend
was financed through operating cash. The Compangrgéed cash from issuance of its stock througénitgloyee stock purchase plan of ¢
million and from the exercise of stock options 6f®million during the fifty-three week period endéanuary 3, 2015 as compared to $0.3
million and $0.1 million, respectively, in the coarpble prior year period. The Company paid a cgetih payment of $0.3 million to the
former principles of BGA during the fifty-three weperiod ended January 3, 2015.

The Company and its subsidiaries are party to m éggeement with Citizens Bank of Pennsylvania,rated and restated effective February
20, 2009, which provides for a $35 million revolgioredit facility and includes a sub-limit of $5Itain for letters of credit (the “Revolving
Credit Facility”). The Revolving Credit Facilityals been amended several times, most recently cenflbes 12, 2014 when the facility was
increased from $15.0 million and the maturity dases extended to December 11, 2019. BorrowingsnuhéeRevolving Credit Facility bear
interest at one of three alternative rates, aswaleoy the Company at each incremental borrowifigese alternatives are: (i) LIBOR (Lonc
Interbank Offered Rate), plus applicable margin(jipiCitizens Bank’s prime rate. The Company gisys unused line fees based on the
amount of the Revolving Credit Facility that is mivawn. Unused line fees are recorded as intergense.

All borrowings under the Revolving Credit Faciliye collateralized by all of the assets of the Camypand its subsidiaries and a pledge of
the stock of its subsidiaries. The Revolving Cré&dicility also contains various financial and rforancial covenants, such as a covenant that
restricts on the Company’s ability to borrow in erdo pay dividends. The Company paid a spec#h davidend on December 30, 2014
which was expressly permitted under its amendedRimng Credit Facility. The Company was in fullmpliance with the covenants in its
Revolving Credit Facility as of January 3, 2015.

The Company had borrowings of $20.0 million asafuhry 3, 2015 and no borrowings as of Decembe2@B3. At January 3, 2015 and

December 28, 2013, there were letters of creditantling for $0.8 million. At January 3, 2015, @empany had availability for additional
borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility df4$2 million.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources (Continued)
Financing Activities (Continued)

As of January 3, 2015, $3.3 million of the $6.4lioil (on the Consolidated Balance Sheet) of cashcash equivalents was held by foreign
subsidiaries, approximately $3.1 million in Canadéllars and the balance of approximately $0.2ionilheld in U.S. dollars.

Dividends

On December 30, 2014, the Company paid to stocksldf record on December 26, 2014 a special cagledd of $2.00 per share of
common stock. The Company also accrued $2.00haee ®n 500,000 unvested restricted stock unitsrestricted stock units contain a
dividend equivalent provision entitling holdersdiwidends paid between the restricted stock urihgdate and ultimate share distribution
date. The accrued dividend will be paid when #sdricted stock units vest, 267,500 in fiscal 2@BB500 in fiscal 2016 and 200,000 in fiscal
2017. Dividends on any forfeited restricted staoks will be forfeited. Prior to fiscal 2014, tikmpany had only ever paid one dividenc
its Common Stock, a special dividend of $1.00 ars in fiscal 2012. The Company has approxima&&I$ million total accrued dividends
due and payable from its dividends declared irafi2012 and fiscal 2014.

Approximately 3.5% of the special fiscal 2014 cdshdend was treated as an ordinary taxable divddamd the approximate balance of
96.5% was treated as a return of capital to thergxdf the recipient’s tax basis, or a capital ghereafter. Approximately 14.5% of the
special fiscal 2012 cash dividend was treated awdinary taxable dividend and the approximate hi@daof 85.5% was treated as a return of
capital to the extent of the recipient’s tax basisa capital gain thereafter.

Any future payment of dividends will depend upomaag other things, the Company’s earnings, findreziadition, capital requirements,
level of indebtedness, contractual restrictions, atiner factors that the Board of Directors deestsviant. The Revolving Credit Facility (as
discussed in Item 7 hereof) prohibits the payméiaing dividends or distributions on account of @@mpany’s capital stock without the prior
consent of the majority of the Company’s lendeBsich consent was received prior to the fiscal 201d2012 distributions.

Commitments

The Company anticipates that its primary uses pitakin future periods will be for working capitalrposes. Funding for any longrm an
shortterm capital requirements as well as future actiors will be derived from one or more of the Rewof Credit Facility (or
replacement thereof), funds generated through Gpesaor future financing transactions. The Conypansubject to legal proceedings
claims that arise from time to time in the ordinaourse of its business, which may or may not he by insurance. Were an unfavor
final outcome to occur, there exists the possibdita material adverse impact on our financialifpas, liquidity, and the results of operatio

The Company has a subcontract agreement with BladicDonald Limited (“B&M”) to provide engineeringral procurement services under
B&M'’s master services agreement with Ontario Po@eneration (‘OPG”). The Company understands th&dtober 2014, OPG provided
to B&M notice of default and termination of a largerchase order from OPG to B&M with respect toshhiB&M had engaged several
subcontractors, including the Company. B&M notiftaé Company that it is disputing OPG’s defaultrolan this purchase order. As of
January 3, 2015 the Company had outstanding aczoeceivable to B&M of $4.9 million under the dispd purchase order and, including
such amount, a total of $12.2 million of outstamgdatcounts receivable to B&M. OPG has indicatethédoCompany that it will not make a
further payments to B&M on the project in disputhe Company has received notice from B&M that eid&M disputes OP& assertion |

is in default, B&M believes that in the event titds in default under its agreement with OPG, ttien Company may also be in default under
its agreement with B&M. The Company does not agritle this assertion.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources (Continued)
Commitments (Continued)

In addition, OPG has notified the Company thatténds to contract directly with the Company fa thmaining engineering and
procurement services work on this large projed, faas instructed the Company to proceed with iteeoti work while it prepares the
necessary purchase orders to provide to the Company

The Company has no knowledge of OPG providing B&thwotice of default on any other projects for efhthe Company is a
subcontractor, and also believes that these peojeititcontinue in the normal course. The Compaoggnot believe that any of its account
receivables with B&M have been materially impaissdi believes that its accounts receivable with B&whain collectible, subject to existi
reserves. However, it is possible that a protchdispute between OPG and B&M may impact the Cowyigability to collect its outstanding
accounts receivable in a timely manner.

The Company has material operations in Canadabtlsgess is conducted business primarily in Camadollars. Since the Company rept
its consolidated results in U.S. dollars the codstéd results are subject to potentially matdhistuations as a result of changes in the
Canadian dollar to U.S. dollar exchange rate. 502014 fiscal year, the Company generated tot@mees from its Canadian clients of $59.1
million in Canadian dollars ($52.7 million generchtey work performed in Canada and $6.4 million gatexl by work performed in the U.S.),
which translated to $53.5 million in revenues iisUdollars based on an average Canadian to U.lar éakchange rate of 90.4%. As of
January 3, 2015, the Company had accounts receiyabt including transit accounts receivable) d?.$2million in Canadian dollars, which
translated to $19.5 million in U.S. dollars basedacCanadian to U.S. dollar exchange rate at sawhaf 85.8%.

From January 4, 2015 through February 27, 201%tmwadian to U.S. dollar exchange rate averaged®1A3 of February 27, 2015 the
Canadian to U.S. dollar exchange rate was 80.0%.thlaCompany’s average fiscal 2014 Canadian to dbfar exchange rate been 80.0%
instead of the 90.4% rate actually experiencedy @&nadian dollar revenues of $59.1 million gereetan fiscal 2014 by Canadian clients
would have translated to $47.3 million in U.S. dddlas opposed to the $53.5 million in U.S. doletsially reported, for a reduction in
recorded revenues of $6.2 million in U.S. doll&tad the accounts receivable (not including tramsiiounts receivable) as of January 3, 2015
of $22.7 million in Canadian dollars been recordethe February 27, 2015 exchange rate of 80.08¢ad=of the 85.8% exchange rate as of
January 3, 2015 actually used, the amount of adsaeneivables generated in Canada as of Januafi3,would have been $18.2 million in
U.S. dollars instead of the $19.5 million in U.8lldrs actually recorded, for a reduction in theoreled accounts receivable (not including
transit accounts receivable) of $1.3 million in UdBllars.

The Company’s business strategy is to achieve grbwath internally through operations and externtdhpugh strategic acquisitions. The
Company from time to time engages in discussioitis patential acquisition candidates. The Comparsydwguired humerous companies
throughout its history and those acquisitions hgemerally included significant future contingenhsieration. As the size of the Company
and its financial resources increase however, attipi opportunities requiring significant commitnie of capital may arise. In order to
pursue such opportunities, the Company may be medjtn incur debt or issue potentially dilutive wetbes in the future. No assurance cai
given as to the Company’s future acquisition ange@sion opportunities or how such opportunities el financed.
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The Company has decided to purchase and implenmesw groject management software platform in e20ly5, initially for its Canadian
Engineering division. The initial implementatiananticipated to take at least six months anddta tost for the first phase is expected to be
as much as $1.0 million. The Company anticipaiasit may extend this new project management soéwlatform to its United States
Engineering divisions and possibly its Informatibechnology segment. At this time, the Company oaiestimate these additional

costs. The Company utilizes SAP software foriitaricial reporting and accounting system which inggdemented in 1999 and has not
undergone significant upgrades since its initighlementation. The Company believes that it witdrae necessary to upgrade or replace its
SAP financial reporting and accounting system, gestas early as the second half of fiscal 201%raue likely some time in fiscal

2016. The Company estimates this upgrade or replant of SAP will cost somewhere between $1.0 anilind $2.0 million. These
estimates are subject to change.

The Company’s current commitments consist primafliease obligations for office space. The Conypaglieves that its capital resources
are sufficient to meet its present obligations #ode to be incurred in the normal course of bissitfier at least the next 12 months.

The Company leases office facilities and variousiggent under non-cancelable leases expiring awsidates through June 2020. Certain
leases are subject to escalation clauses basedchpages in various factors. The minimum futuneumh operating lease commitments for
leases with non-cancelable terms, exclusive of amknoperating escalation charges, are as followth(usands):

Fiscal Year: Amouni
2015 $3,19:
2016 2,457
2017 2,02:
2018 1,57¢
2019 67C
Thereaftel 22€
Total $10,14:

As of January 3, 2015, the Company had two actbggiigition agreements whereby additional contingemsideration may be earned by the
acquired entities: 1) effective July 1, 2012 thaerpany acquired certain assets of BGA, LLC (“BGAdhd 2) effective August 1, 2014 the
Company acquired all of the stock of Point Comna, [HPCI”), an Ontario amalgamated corporationgrese fully described below. The
Company cannot estimate future contingent paymeitiisany certainty. However, the Company estiméiésre contingent payments at
January 3, 2015 as follows:

Period Endinc BGA PCI Total
January 2, 201 $217 $262 $47¢
December 31, 201 271 197 46€
December 30, 201 - 307 307
Estimated future contingent consideration paym $48¢ $76¢€ $1,25¢

Actual future contingent payments may materialffedifrom the estimates above. Future contingayinpents to be made to BGA and PCI
are capped at cumulative maximums of $2.7 millind $2.0 million, respectively. The Company estigsgtture contingent consideration in
payments based on forecasted performance and egttird net present value of those expected payrasmtJanuary 3, 2015.
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Significant employment agreements are as follows:

Executive Severance Agreements with Kevin Milled &&occo Campanelli

The Company is a party to Executive Severance Ageegs (the “Executive Severance Agreements”) withd® Campanelli, the Company’s
President and Chief Executive Officer as of Febrd, 2014, and Kevin Miller, the Company’s Chiéfi&ncial Officer, which set forth the
terms and conditions of certain payments to be nbgdbe Company to each executive in the eventevdmployed by the Company, such
executive experiences (a) a termination of employtmerelated to a “Change in Control” (as defineerein) or (b) there occurs a Change in
Control and either (i) the executive’s employmentieirminated for a reason related to the Chan@mirtrol or (ii) the executive remains
continuously employed with the Company for a spediperiod of time following the Change in Contficé., twelve months for Mr.
Campanelli and three months for Mr. Miller).

Under the terms of the Executive Severance Agreamimither (a) the executive is involuntarilyrténated by the Company for any reason
other than “Cause” (as defined therein), “Disayilfas defined therein) or death, or (b) the eximeutesigns for “Good Reason” (as defined
therein), and, in each case, the termination isarf@ermination Related to a Change in Control”daefined below), the executive will receive
the following severance payments: (i) an amoungaktiul.5 times the sum of (a) the executive’s ahbase salary as in effect immediately
prior to the termination date (before taking inte@unt any reduction that constitutes Good Rea@émnual Base Salary”) and (b) the
highest annual bonus paid to the executive in ditlgeothree fiscal years immediately precedingakecutive’s termination date (“Bonusty
be paid in installments over the twelve month peéfadlowing the executive’s termination date; anfifor a period of eighteen months
following the executive’s termination date, a mdpthayment equal to the monthly COBRA premium tthat executive is required to pay to
continue medical, vision, and dental coveragehforself and, where applicable, his spouse andbdigiependents.

Notwithstanding the above, if the executive hasranination as described above and can reasonalgragrate that such termination wol
constitute a Termination Related to a Change int©brand a Change in Control occurs within 120gdfplowing the executiva' terminatiot
date, the executive will be entitled to receive pagments set forth below for a Termination Reldted Change in Control, less any amounts
already paid to the executive, upon consummatich@fChange in Control.

Under the terms of the Executive Severance Agresniém Change in Control occurs and (a) the etreeexperiences a Termination
Related to a Change in Control on account of (iln&oluntary termination by the Company for anys@aother than Cause, death, or
Disability, (ii) an involuntary termination by tf@ompany within a specified period of time followiagChange in Control (i.e., twelve months
for Mr. Campanelli and three months for Mr. Millem account of Disability or death, or (iii) a rg@sation by the executive with Good
Reason; or (b) a resignation by the executive, wittvithout Good Reason, which results in a tertmadate that is the last day of the
specified period (i.e., twelve months for Mr. Camelli and three months for Mr. Miller) following@hange in Control, then the executive
will receive the following severance payments:d1ymp sum payment equal to two times the sumeettecutive’s (a) Annual Base Salary
and (b) Bonus; and (2) a lump sum payment equaveaty-four multiplied by the monthly COBRA premiunst, as in effect immediately
prior to the executive’s termination date, for thecutive to continue medical, dental and visiovecage, as applicable, in such Company
plans for himself and, if applicable, his spousé aligible dependents.

The Executive Severance Agreements provide thiheiExecutive remains continuously employed fguexHied period of time following a
Change in Control (i.e., twelve months for Mr. Camelli and three months for Mr. Miller) and is exmyed by the Company on the last day
of such specified period, the executive will reeeév/lump sum payment equal to two times the sutheoéxecutive’s (a) Annual Base Salary
and (b) Bonus (the “Change in Control Paymentf)thé executive receives the Change in Control Raynthe executive will not be eligible
to receive any severance payments under his Exec88verance Agreement.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

Separation Agreement with Leon Kopyt

On January 22, 2014, the Company and Mr. Kopytredtasto a Separation Agreement and General Re(#aséSeparation Agreement”) in
connection with his retirement as our President@nieéf Executive Officer, effective as of Febru@8;, 2014. Under the Separation
Agreement, Mr. Kopyt received a cash severance payof approximately $2.7 million in August 201ds$ applicable deductions and
withholdings. The Separation Agreement also costaiutual releases and other provisions customasych agreements. Prior to entering
into the Separation Agreement, Mr. Kopyt and thenBany were party to an Employment Agreement, Teatton Benefits Agreement and
Severance Agreement, all of which terminated upatation of the Separation Agreement.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
None.
Impact of Inflation

Consulting, staffing, and project services are gahepriced based on markps on prevailing rates of pay, and as a resulableto generall
maintain their relationship to direct labor cosBermanent placement services are priced as ddaraftsalary levels of the job candidates.

The Company'’s business is labor intensive; theegfibire Company has a high exposure to increasiaighicare benefit costs. The Company
attempts to compensate for these escalating cogtsbusiness cost models and customer pricingdsging along some of these increased
healthcare benefit costs to its customers and grapfy however, the Company has not been able soopaall increases. The Company is
continuing to review its options to further conttieése costs, which the Company does not believeepresentative of general inflationary
trends. Otherwise, inflation has not been a megnidactor in the Company’s operations.

New Accounting Standards

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standardafiq“FASB”) issued ASU 2013-11Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit Wh
Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Lassa Tax Credit Carryforward Exi” (ASU 2013-11), which amends ASC 74bi¢ome
Taxes.” This update provides guidance on the firstatement presentation of unrecognized taefitsnwhen net operating loss
carryforwards, similar tax losses or tax credirg@rwards exist. The Company adopted the prousiof ASU 2013t1 in 2014. This upda
did not have a material effect on the Company’sobidated financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standargddte (“ASU”) No. 2014-09Revenue from Contracts with Customevrkich requires
companies to recognize revenue to depict the teaéfpromised goods or services to customers @naount that reflects the consideration it
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goodsgrvices. The standard will be effective far @ompany beginning in the first quarter of
2017 and early adoption is not permitted. The stamdard permits the use of either the retrospectivcumulative effect transition method
on adoption. The Company is evaluating the etfeat ASU 2014-09 will have on its consolidated fin&l statements and related
disclosures, including which transition method il wdopt.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014 R#gsentation of Financial Statements — Going Comgoshich states management should
evaluate whether there are conditions or eventssidered in the aggregate, that raise a substalutiddt about the entity’s ability to continue
as a going concern within one year after the deethe financial statements are issued. Managesevaluation should be based on rele
conditions and events that are known and likelydour at the date that the financial statementssated. The standard update will be
effective for the annual period ending after Decenitb, 2016, and for annual periods and interinoplerthereafter, however, early
application is permitted. The Company is evalunthre effect that ASU 20145 will have on its consolidated financial statetseand relate
disclosures.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

The Company’s exposure to market risk for changesterest rates relates primarily to the Companwgstment portfolio and debt
instruments, which primarily consist of its RevalgiCredit Facility. The Company does not have deyvative financial instruments in its
portfolio. The Company places its investmentsistriuments that meet high credit quality standafidse Company is adverse to principal
loss and ensures the safety and preservation iovigsted funds by limiting default risk, marketkiand reinvestment risk. As of January 3,
2015, the Company'’s investments consisted of cadlmeney market funds. The Company does not ueeest rate derivative instruments
to manage its exposure to interest rate changesseftly the impact of a 10% (approximately 90 basints) increase in interest rates on its
variable debt (using an incremental borrowing ratelld have a relatively nominal impact on the Camys results of operations. The
Company does not expect any material loss withesp its investment portfolio.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The financial statements, together with the repbthe Company’s Independent Registered Public Aoting Firm, begins on page F-1.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
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ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The Company’s management, under the supervisionithdhe participation of the Company’s Chief Entiee Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the Comfsmdigclosure controls and procedures (as defindRlile 13a-15(e) and 18kb(e) under th
Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covesethis report. Based upon that evaluation, theeClkecutive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer concluded that those disclosure controls procedures as of the end of the period coveratibyeport were effective to provide
reasonable assurance that information requiree@ widrlosed by the Company in the reports thaet br submits under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported vifthitime periods specified in the SEC’s rules famohs and is accumulated and
communicated to the Company’s management, incluidsngrincipal executive and principal financiafioérs, or persons performing similar
functions, as appropriate, to allow timely decisioegarding required disclosure.

A controls system, no matter how well designed @mefated, cannot provide absolute assurance thatjectives of the controls system are
met, and no evaluation of controls can provide kite@ssurance that all control issues and inssot#aud, if any, within a company have
been detected.

Managemens Report on Internal Control over Financial Repayti

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting for the company. Internal
control over financial reporting is a process desdjto provide reasonable assurance regardin@liability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples. Our system of internal
control over financial reporting includes thoseigiels and procedures that (i) pertain to the maiee of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disphositions of the assets of the company; (iiyvjute reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparatibnasfcial statements in accordance with generalbepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are baade only in accordance with authorizations of ngangent and directors of the compa
and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regardiaggmtion or timely detection of unauthorized acigjois, use or disposition of the compasy’
assets that could have a material effect on tlenéial statements.

Management performed an assessment of the effaetigeof our internal control over financial repagtas of January 3, 2015 based upon
criteria in Internal Control-Integrated Framewoskued and updated in fiscal 2013 by the Committ&ponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“*COSQ”). Based on this asseegmmanagement determined that the company’sigteontrol over financial
reporting was effective as of January 3, 2015, dhasethe criteria in Internal Control-Integratecéiework issued by COSO.

There have been no changes in the Company’s iiteon&rol over financial reporting that occurredidg the Company’s most recent fiscal
guarter and that have materially affected, or aesonably likely to materially affect, the Companiyiternal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART Il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information required by Item 10 shall be in@dddn the 2015 Proxy Statement and is incorporaggdin by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Item 11 shall be in@ddn the 2015 Proxy Statement and is incorporaéédin by reference.

ITEM 12, SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Except as set forth below, the information requipgdtem 12 shall be included in the 2015 Proxyte&3teent and is incorporated herein by
reference.

The table below presents certain information camiogrsecurities issuable in connection with eqadympensation plans that have been
approved by the Company’s shareholders and tha hawvbeen approved by the Company’s shareholders.

Number of securities remaining
available for issuance under
Number of securities to be issue Weighted-average exercise price equity compensation plans,
upon exercise of outstanding of outstanding options, warrants excluding securities reflected in
Plan category options, warrants and rights and rights column (a)

@) (b) (©

Equity compensation plans
approved by security
holders 53,000 $7.65 425,000
Equity compensation plans
not approved by
security holder

Total 53,000 $7.65 425,000

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Item 13 shall be in@ddn the 2015 Proxy Statement and is incorporaéédin by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by Item 14 shall be in@dddn the 2015 Proxy Statement and is incorporagzdin by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(& 1.and 2. Financial Statement Schedule-- See”Index to Financial Statements and Schec¢’ on F-1.

3. See Item (b) below

(b)  Exhibits

3)@)

(3)(b)

3)(©)

(3)(d)

(4) (@)

(10)(b)

*(10)(c)

*(10)(d)

*(10)(e)

*(10)(H)

(10)(9)

Articles of Incorporation, as amendedprporated by reference to Exhibit 3(a) to thgiReant's Annual Report on
Form 1(-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 1¢

Certificate of Amendment of Articles lofcorporation; incorporated by reference to Ext¥bto the Registrant’'s Proxy
Statement, dated February 6, 1996, filed with theusities and Exchange Commission on January Z8..

Certificate of Amendment of Articles lofcorporation; incorporated by reference to Extitbto the Registrant’s Proxy
Statement, dated February 6, 1996, filed with theuBities and Exchange Commission on January Z8..

Amended and Restated Bylaws; incoratdity reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registra@tgsrent Report on Form 8-
K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiardanuary 23, 2014 (t*January 2014-K").

Registration Rights Agreement, dateddfldl 1, 1996, by and between RCM Technologies,dnd.the former
shareholders of The Consortium; incorporated bgregfce to Exhibit (c)(2) to the Registrant’s Cutri@aport on Form
8-K dated March 19, 1996, filed with the Securitiesl &xchange Commission on March 20, 1¢

RCM Technologies, Inc. 1994 Non-emgleirector Stock Option Plan; incorporated by nerfee to the appendix to
the Registrant’s Proxy Statement, dated March 834 1filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimissn March
28, 1994

RCM Technologies, Inc. 1996 Executive &t@ption Plan, dated August 15, 1996; incorpordigdeference to
Exhibit 10(]) to the Registrant’s Annual Report®orm 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31,6 9®ed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on January9®, (the*1996 1(-K").

RCM Technologies, Inc. 2000 Employee Stivdentive Plan, dated January 6, 2000; incorpdrhyereference to
Exhibit A to the Registrant’s Proxy Statement, dai#arch 3, 2000, filed with the Securities and Exfpe
Commission on February 28, 20(

Second Amended and Restated Terminatioefiée Agreement, dated March 18, 1997, betweeRggistrant and
Leon Kopyt; incorporated by reference to Exhibifd)ao the Registrant’s Registration Statement omFS-1 (SEC
File No. 33:-23753), filed with the Securities and Exchange Cdéssimn on March 21, 199

Amended and Restated Employment Agreentatied November 30, 1996, between the Registnatetitéc Design,
Inc. and Leon Kopyt; incorporated by reference xbigit 10(g) to the 1996 -K.

Severance Agreement, dated June 102, Xi&tween RCM Technologies, Inc. and Leon Koioygiprporated by

reference to Exhibit 10a to the Registrant’s Qubrtieeport on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter eshdane 30, 2002,
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissioagust 5, 2002 (th* Second Quarter 2002 -Q").
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ITEM 15.

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES (CONTINU ED)

(b)

Exhibits (Continued)

*(10)(h)

*(10)(i)

*(10)()

*(10)(k)

*(20)(1)

(10)(n)

(10)(0)

(10)(p)

(10)(a)

Exhibit A to Severance Agreement GenerleRse; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10théoSecond Quarter
2002 1(-Q.

Amendment No. 1, dated December 12, 20®Hhe Amended and Restated Employment Agreemeterea into on
November 30, 1996, between Leon Kopyt and RCM Telduies, Inc.; incorporated by reference to Exhiffitl to
the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K datedddnber 12, 2007, filed with the Securities andnarge
Commission on December 12, 2007 (“December 2007-K").

Amendment No. 1, dated December 12, 20®%he Second Amended and Restated TerminationflieAgreement,
made March 18, 1997, between Leon Kopyt and RCMilielogies, Inc.; incorporated by reference to Eittib.2 tc
the December 2007-K.

Amendment No. 1, dated December 12, 2@D%he Severance Agreement, entered into on Jun20D2, between
Leon Kopyt and RCM Technologies, Inc.; incorporatgdeference to Exhibit 10.3 to the December 28-K.

The RCM Technologies, Inc. 2007 OmnibusiBgCompensation Plan; incorporated by referenc&rtnex A to the
Registrant’s Proxy Statement, dated April 20, 2G0&d with the Securities and Exchange Commissiorpril 19,
2007.

Second Amended and Restated Loan aodriBy Agreement dated as of February 19, 200@yden RCM
Technologies, Inc. and all of its SubsidiariesjZeits Bank of Pennsylvania as Administrative Agerd Arranger
and the Financial Institutions Named therein asdees; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.th®Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 19, 262 with the Securities and Exchange Commission
February 25, 200¢

Amendment, dated as of July 21, 2@d Eecond Amended and Restated Loan and SecurigeAtent dated as of
February 19, 2009, between RCM Technologies, Ind.al of its Subsidiaries, Citizens Bank of Perwagia as
Administrative Agent and Arranger and the Finantiatitutions Named therein as Lenders ; incorpamtdty
reference to Exhibit 10(o) to the Registrant’s AalhReport on Form 10-K for the fiscal year endedésber 28,
2013 filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimissn February 27, 2014 (t*2013 1¢-K").

Second Amendment, dated as of OctdheR011, to Second Amended and Restated Loanendify Agreement
dated as of February 19, 2009, between RCM Techiedplnc. and all of its Subsidiaries, CitizensBaf
Pennsylvania as Administrative Agent and Arranget the Financial Institutions Named therein as lezad
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(p) to tB42 1(-K.

Third Amendment, dated as of Decendf3r2011, to Second Amended and Restated Loanenify Agreement
dated as of February 19, 2009, between RCM Techredplnc. and all of its Subsidiaries, CitizensBaf
Pennsylvania as Administrative Agent and Arrangnet the Financial Institutions Named therein as lezsd
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to thgiReant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated Decanmil3g 2011,
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiodanuary 3, 201:
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ITEM 15.

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES (CONTINU ED)

(b)

Exhibits (Continued)

(10)(n)

*(10)(s)

*(10)(1)

*(10)(u)

*(10)(v)

*(10)(w)

*(10)(x)

*(10)(Y)

*(10)(2)

(21)

(23.1)

(31.1)

(31.2)

Fourth Amendment to Second AmendedRestated Amendment, dated as of December 12, BPnended and
Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated aslotibey 19, 2009, by and among the Company and @8 o
subsidiaries, Citizens Bank of Pennsylvania, a Bgrania state chartered bank, in its capacitydasiaistrative
agent and arranger, and Citizens Bank of Pennsigyaa lender; incorporated by reference to Exi@ifl to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed witle Securities and Exchange Commission on Decet)e2014
(the“December 2014-K").

Option Grant Agreement, dated April 211@0to Richard D. Machon (filed as an exhibit te fRegistrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities anccEange Commission on April 23, 2010, and incorpatdterein
by reference)

Option Grant Agreement, dated April 21120to S. Gary Snodgrass (filed as an exhibit éoRkgistrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities anccEange Commission on April 23, 2010, and incorpatdterein
by reference)

Executive Severance Agreement between HEbhnologies, Inc. and Rocco Campanelli dated Deeera7, 2012;
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to thgiBeant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated Decan®ie 2012,
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissioiecember 28, 201

Executive Severance Agreement between R@bhnologies, Inc. and Kevin Miller dated Decembgér2012;
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to thgiReant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated Decan2ie 2012,
filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissioiDecember 28, 201

Settlement Agreement, dated January 284 2@tween RCM Technologies, Inc. and the stocldreldf the
Company named therein; incorporated by referenéetobit 99.1 to the January 201-K.

Separation Agreement, dated January 2B4 A0etween RCM Technologies, Inc. and Leon Koiogiprporated by
reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the January 20-K.

RCM Technologies, Inc. 2014 Omnibus Eq@iympensation Plan; incorporated by reference tolixA to the
Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement for the 28nnual Meeting filed with the Securities and Eanbe
Commission on October 31, 20:

Form of Stock Unit Agreement; incorporated by refere to Exhibit 99.2 to the December 20-K.
Subsidiaries of the Registrant. (Filed herew

Consent of EisnerAmper LLP. (Filed herewi

Certifications of Chief Executive OfficRequired by Rule 13a-14(a) of the SecuritieshBrge Act of 1934, as
amended. (Filed herewit

Certifications of Chief Financial OfficRequired by Rule 13a-14(a) of the SecuritieshBrge Act of 1934, as
amended. (Filed herewit
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ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES (CONTINU ED)

(b)  Exhibits (Continued)

(32.1)

(32.2)

101.INS

101.SCH
101.CAL
101.LAB
101.PRE

101.DEF

Certifications of Chief Executive OfficRequired by Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securitiesharnge Act of 1934, as
amended. (This exhibit shall not be deemed “file"purposes of Section 18 of the Securities ErgeaAct of
1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to thditiabf that section. Further, this exhibit shatit be deemed to be
incorporated by reference into any filing under Seeurities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Séesifiixchange
Act of 1934, as amended.) (Filed herew

Certifications of Chief Financial OfficRequired by Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securitiesharge Act of 1934, as
amended. (This exhibit shall not be deemed “file"purposes of Section 18 of the Securities ErgeaAct of
1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to thditiabf that section. Further, this exhibit shatit be deemed to be
incorporated by reference into any filing under 8ezurities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Séesifiixchange
Act of 1934, as amended.) (Filed herew
XBRL Instance Documer
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutr
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doents

XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Docume

*Constitutes a management contract or compensalamyop arrangemen
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(t)e Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registhas duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly aigkd.

RCM Technologies, Inc.
Date: March 4, 201 By:/s/ Rocco Campane

Rocco Campanelli
President and Chief Executive Offic

Date: March 4, 201 By:/s/ Kevin D. Miller
Kevin D. Miller
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secre

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpthe following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the datbeated.

Date: March 4, 201 By :/s/ Rocco Campane
Rocco Campanelli
President and Chief Executive Officer
(PrincipalExecutive Officer,

Date: March 4, 201 By:/s/ Kevin D. Miller
Kevin D. Miller
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secre
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

Date: March 4, 201 By:/s/ Leon Kopy!
Leon Kopyt
Chairman and Directc

Date: March 4, 201 By:/s/ Roger H. Ballol
Roger H. Ballou
Director

Date: March 4, 201 By:/s/ Maier O. Feir
Maier O. Fein
Director

Date: March 4, 201 By:/s/ Richard D. Macho
Richard D. Machon
Director

Date: March 4, 201 By:/s/ S. Gary Snodgra:
S. Gary Snodgrass
Director

Date: March 4, 201 By:/s/ Bradley S. Viz
Bradley S. Vizi
Director
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RCM TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
January 3, 2015 and December 28, 2013

(Dollars in thousands, except share and per shanewnts, unless otherwise indicat

January 3 December 2€
2015 2013
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $6,41: $9,317
Accounts receivable, n 59,18" 55,72¢
Transit accounts receivak 3,797 3,95:
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 2,36¢ 1,87¢
Deferred income tax assets, dome 81€ 1,83:
Total current asse 72,57¢ 72,704
Property and equipment, r 3,297 2,291
Other asset:
Deposits 231 15¢
Goodwill 10,22: 9,54¢
Intangible assets, n 194 21€
Deferred income tax assets, dome 74¢ 1,60¢
Total other asse’ 11,397 11,52¢
Total asset $87,27: $86,52¢
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expel $7,69: $9,67:
Transit accounts payak 6,65¢ 3,90t
Accrued payroll and related co: 7,78 10,10¢
Income taxes payab 86(C 404
Deferred income tax liability, foreig 16C 132
Contingent consideratic 47¢ 528
Total current liabilities 23,63¢ 24,73¢
Contingent consideratic 77t 407
Borrowings under line of crec 20,00( -
Total liabilities 44,40¢ 25,14¢
Stockholder’ equity:
Preferred stock, $1.00 par value; 5,000,000 start®rized
no shares issued or outstand - -
Common stock, $0.05 par value; 40,000,000 shartt®aped;
14,148,667 shares issued and 12,671,887 sharearualitgy at
January 3, 2015 and 13,892,265 shares issued atiB]259 shares outstanding at
December 28, 201 707 69E
Additional paic-in capital 112,52¢ 110,60!
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 91 81t
Accumulated defici (62,93 (43,23)
Treasury stock common (1,476,780 shares at JaBy&§15 and
1,473,306 shares at December 28, 2013) al (7,529 (7,500
Stockholder equity 42 ,86¢ 61,37¢
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $87,27: $86,52:

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statements.




RCM TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
Fiscal Years Ended January 3, 2015 and December 28)13
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounteasotherwise indicater

January 3, December 28,
2015 2013

Revenue! $193,77! $170,77
Cost of service 142,07 126,41
Gross profit 51,69: 44,36
Operating costs and expen:

Selling, general and administrati 39,86¢ 35,51«

Severance and other chart 104 5,181

Depreciation and amortizatic 1,20: 1,111

Operating costs and expen: 41,17¢ 41,80¢
Operating incom: 10,51¢ 2,55¢
Other (expense) incon

Interest expense and other, (74) (55)

Reduction in contingent considerati 12¢ 92

Gain (loss) on foreign currency transacti 28 (5)

Other income 83 32
Income before income tax 10,60: 2,58
Income tax expens 3,781 597
Net income $6,81¢ $1,99(
Basic and diluted net income per sh $0.5¢ $0.1¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.




RCM TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Fiscal Years Ended January 3, 2015 and December, 2813
(Dollars in thousands, except share and per sk@meunts, unless otherwise indicat

January 3 December 2€
2015 2013
Net income $6,81¢ $1,99(
Foreign currency translation adjustm (890 (55E)
Comprehensive incon $5,92¢ $1,43¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.
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RCM TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Fifty-Three Week Period Ended January 3, 2015

(Audited)
(In thousands

Foreign
Currency
ltems
Beginning balanc $81°t
Other comprehensive income before
reclassification (890
Amounts reclassified from accumulated
other comprehensive income 16€
Net currer-period comprehensive incor (724)
$91

Ending balanc

(a) The amounts represent residual foreigretwsr translation balances in our Cataract and #idisidiaries after these subsidiaries had
been effectively liquidatec

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.
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RCM TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Fiscal Years Ended January 3, 2015 and December 28)13
(Dollars in thousands, except share amounts, snéiserwise indicatec

Common Stocl

Accumulated

Additional
Issued Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Shares Amount Total

Balance, December 29, 201 13,756,58 $68¢ $109,39 $1,37( ($45,259) 1,457,85! ($7,41) $58,77:
Issuance of stock under

employee stock purchase p 58,17¢ 3 25€ - - - - 25¢
Translation adjustmer - - - (555) - - - (55¢)
Issuance of stock upon exercise of

stock option: 27,50( 1 112 - - - - 114
Issuance of stock upon vesting of

Restricted stock awar: 50,00( 3 3 - - - - -
Share based compensation expe - - 84¢ - - - - 84¢
Common stock repurcha - - - - - 15,45( (83) (83
Dividends forfeited on restricted

stock award - - - - 32 - - 32
Net income - - - - 1,99( - - 1,99(
Balance, December 28, 201 13,892,26 $69t $110,60! $81¢ ($43,23) 1,473,301 ($7,500 $61,37¢
Issuance of stock under

employee stock purchase p 67,09: 3 33€ - - - - 33¢
Translation adjustmel - - - (890) - - - (890)
Reclass of currency translati - - - 16€ (16€) - - -
Issuance of stock upon exercise of

stock option: 189,31( 9 767 - - - - 77€
Effect of excess tax deduction

over book expense associated with

exercise of stock optiol - - 15 - - - - 15
Share based compensation expe - - 80¢€ - - - - 80€
Common stock repurcha - - - - - 3,47¢ (29) (29
Cash dividend pai - - - - (25,349 - - (25,349
Dividends declared on restricted

stock award - - - - (1,000 - - (2,000
Net income - - - - 6,814 - - 6,814
Balance, January 3, 201! 14,148,66 $707 $112,52! $91 ($62,93) 1,476,78! ($7,529 $42,86!

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.




RCM TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Fiscal Years Ended January 3, 2015 and December 28)13
(Dollars in thousands unless otherwise indical

January 3 December 28
2015 2013
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net income $6,81 $1,99(
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigea by
operating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,202 1,111
Change in contingent considerati (129 92
Effect of excess tax deduction on stock opti 15 -
Shar-based compensation expel 80¢ 84¢
Provision for losses on accounts receivi 93¢ (531)
Deferred income tax expen 1,90¢ (639
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Accounts receivabl (4,939 (12,479
Transit accounts receivak 15€ 6,07:
Prepaid expenses and other current a: (499 46
Accounts payable and accrued expel (2,98¢) 3,67¢
Transit accounts payak 2,75:% (8,057)
Accrued payroll and related co: (2,32)) 3,951
Income taxes payab 45€ 294
Total adjustment (2,637) (5,7872)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activ 4,181 (3,797)
Cash flows from investing activitie
Property and equipment acquit (2,09 (1,40¢)
(Increase) decrease in depo (70 84
Net cash used in investing activiti (2,16)) (1,322)
Cash flows from financing activitie
Net borrowings of line of cred 20,00( -
Sale of stock for employee stock purchase 33¢ 25¢
Exercise of stock optior 77€ 114
Common stock repurchas (29 (83
Dividends paid to shareholde (25,349 -
Contingent consideration pe (313) -
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi (4,577 29C
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casiatnts (35E) 18
Decrease in cash and cash equival (2,90¢6) (4,80¢)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe 9,317 14,12%
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $6,41: $9,31°
Supplemental cash flow informatic
Cash paid for
Interest $6¢ $6€
Income taxe: $1,76¢ $1,70:
Non-cash investing activitie:
Contingent consideration recorded, not yet paighaasof business acquisitic $76¢ $ -
Fixed assets acquired in acquisit $2€ $ -
Non-cash financing activitie:
Dividend declared but unpaid on unvested restristedk units $1,00 $ -
Dividends forfeitec $ - ($32)
Vesting of restricted stock uni $ - $33¢4

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statements.




RCM TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Fiscal Years Ended January 3, 2015 and December 28)13
(Dollars in thousands, except share and per sl@meunts, unless otherwiindicated)

1.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Description of Business and Basis of Presentation

RCM Technologies, Inc. (the “Company” or “RCM")aspremier provider of business and technology wiatdesigned to enhance and
maximize the operational performance of its custantierough the adaptation and deployment of adweogineering and information
technology services. Additionally, the Companyviiles specialty health care staffing services thhoits Specialty Health Care Servii
group. RCM’s offices are primarily located in majoetropolitan centers throughout North America.

The consolidated financial statements are compo$éae accounts of the Company and its wholly advsebsidiaries. All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions have beaamated in consolidation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers its holdings of highly ligmidney-market instruments and certificates of diégpts be cash equivalents if the
securities mature within 90 days from the dateagjussition. These investments are carried at edsich approximates fair value. The
Company’s cash balances are maintained in accbefdsy major banks and financial institutions.eThajority of these balances
exceed federally insured amounts. At both Jan8a#015 and December 28, 2013, $3.3 million of aaghcash equivalents were held
in Canadian banks.

Fair Value of Financial I nstruments

The Company’s carrying value of financial instrurisgiconsisting primarily of accounts receivablangit accounts receivable, accounts
payable, transit accounts payable and accrued sgpeapproximates fair value due to their liquidityheir short-term nature. The
Company does not have derivative products in plageanage risks related to foreign currency fluttus for its foreign operations or
for interest rate changes.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company’s accounts receivable are primarilyfduma trade customers. Credit is extended basesl/aluation of customers’
financial condition and, generally, collateral & nequired. Accounts receivable payment termg aad are stated in the financial
statements at amounts due from customers net alf@amance for doubtful accounts. Accounts outstagdbnger than the payment ter
are considered past due. The Company determma#idtvance by considering a number of factordutting the length of time trade
accounts receivable are past due, the Companysopieloss history, the customer’s current abii@ypay its obligation to the Company,
and the condition of the general economy and tdestry as a whole. The Company writes off accoteteivable when they become
uncollectible, and payments subsequently receiveslch receivables previously written off are desdito bad debt expense.

Accrued and Unbilled Accounts Receivable and Work-in-Process
Unbilled receivables primarily represent revenumsied whereby those services are ready to be fifledf the balance sheet ending
date. Work-inprocess primarily represents revenues earned wodéracts which the Company is contractually préetlifrom invoicing

until future dates as project milestones are redlizSee Note 4 for further details.
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RCM TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Fiscal Years Ended January 3, 2015 and December 28)13
(Dollars in thousands, except share and per sk@meunts, unless otherwise indicat

1.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Transit Receivables and Transit Payables

From time to time, the Company’s Engineering segreeters into agreements to provide, among othegsh construction management
and engineering services. Pursuant to these agregntiee Company: a) engages subcontractors tadgreenstruction services; b)
typically earns a fixed percentage of the totajgrbvalue as a management fee and ¢) assumesmership or risks of inventory. In
such situations, the Company acts as an agent tiielrovisions of “Overall Considerations of Rdjppgy Revenue Gross as a Principal
versus Net as an Agent” and therefore recognizesntes on a “net basis.” Under the terms of theagents, the Company is not
typically required to pay the subcontractor unftiéathe corresponding payment from the Compangt dient is received. Upon
invoicing the end client on behalf of the subcoctivathe Company records this amount simultanecassliyoth a “transit account
receivable” and “transit account payable” as the@am (when paid to the Company) is due to and gdliygraid to the subcontractor
within a few days. At any given point in time, tBempany’s transit accounts receivable usually Etipgatransit accounts

payable. However, the transit accounts payableoadasionally exceed the transit accounts recédvaibe to timing differences.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost netoofhalated depreciation and amortization and areedégted on the straiglifte methoc
at rates calculated to provide for retirement aets at the end of their estimated useful livelse Tompany’s ERP software system,
installed in 1999 and upgraded in 2004, is beinyekdated over fifteen years. The CompanyOIP telephone system, the installatio
which was substantially complete at the end of 200Being depreciated over seven years. All otlaedware and software as well as
furniture and office equipment is depreciated dixgr years. Leasehold improvements are deprecatedthe shorter of the estimated
life of the asset or the lease term.

I ntangible Assets

The Company’s intangible assets have been gendtatmeyh acquisitions. The Company maintains residity for valuing and
determining the useful life of intangible assetd typically engages a third party valuation firmassist them. As a general rule, the
Company amortizes restricted covenants over foarsyand customer relationships over six years. é¥ew circumstances may dictate
other amortization terms as determined by the Compad their third party advisors.
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RCM TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Fiscal Years Ended January 3, 2015 and December 28)13
(Dollars in thousands, except share and per sk@meunts, unless otherwise indicat

1.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Goodwill

Gooduwill represents the premium paid over thevaltie of the net tangible and intangible assetsie®d in business combinations. The
Company is required to assess the carrying valits oéporting units that contain goodwill at leastan annual basis in order to
determine if any impairment in value has occurrédle Company has the option to first assess qtiaéitéactors to determine whether it
is necessary to perform a two-step impairment fastassessment of those qualitative factors oafiication of the goodwill
impairment test requires significant judgment inihg but not limited to the assessment of the lassinits management and general
market conditions, estimation of future cash flowhijch is dependent on internal forecasts, estonadf the long-term rate of growth for
the businesses, the useful life over which cashdlwill occur and determination of weighted averagst of capital. Changes in these
estimates and assumptions could materially affectietermination of fair value and/or conclusiongyoodwill impairment for each
reporting unit. The Company formally assessesthesilitative factors and, if necessary, condustarinual goodwill impairment test as
of the last day of the Company’s fiscal Novembeathegear, or more frequently if indicators of impaént exist. The Company
periodically analyzes whether any such indicatdisypairment exist. A significant amount of judgntés involved in determining if an
indicator of impairment has occurred. Such indicmatoay include a sustained, significant declinshare price and market capitalization,
a decline in expected future cash flows, a sigaiftadverse change in legal factors or in the legsiclimate, unanticipated competition,
a material change in management or its key peré@mukor slower expected growth rates, among othBree to the thin trading of the
Company stock in the public marketplace and theairthpf the control premium held by a relatively felareholders, the Company does
not consider the market capitalization of the Conyptlae most appropriate measure of fair value aidgall for our reporting units. The
Company looks to earnings/revenue multiples of lsintompanies recently completing acquisitions tuedability of our reporting units
to generate cash flows as better measures of itheafae of our reporting units. The Company deti@ed there was no impairment
during the fiscal years ended January 3, 2015 awiDber 28, 2013. In both years, the Companyrdéted that it was only necessary
to assess qualitative factors and therefore digpadbrm a two-step impairment test.

Long-Lived Assets

The Company accounts for long-lived assets in alzoore with “Accounting for the Impairment or Dispbef Long-Lived

Assets.” Management periodically reviews theyiag amounts of long-lived assets to determine taeturrent events or
circumstances warrant adjustment to such carryinguats. Any impairment is measured by the amcuattthe carrying value of such
assets exceeds their fair value, primarily basedstmated discounted cash flows. Considerableagement judgment is necessary to
estimate the fair value of assets. Assets to §igodied of are carried at the lower of their finahsiatement carrying amount or fair val
less cost to sell.

Software

In accordance with “Accounting for Costs of Compueftware Developed or Obtained for Internal Useftain costs related to the
development or purchase of internal-use softwagecapitalized and amortized over the estimatedulif of the software. During the
fiscal years ended January 3, 2015 and Decemb@028, the Company capitalized approximately $3wd$443, respectively, for
software costs. The net balance after accumutigpdeciation for all software costs capitalizedBdanuary 3, 2015 and December 28,
2013 was $643 and $505, respectively.
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RCM TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Fiscal Years Ended January 3, 2015 and December 28)13
(Dollars in thousands, except share and per sk@meunts, unless otherwise indicat

1.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Income Taxes

The Company makes judgments and interpretatioresdbas enacted tax laws, published tax guidancegtisas estimates of future
earnings. These judgments and interpretationstafie provision for income taxes, deferred taxetssand liabilities and the valuation
allowance. We evaluated the deferred tax assetsletermined on the basis of objective factors tiainet assets will be realized
through future years’ taxable income. In the evbat actual results differ from these estimatesassessments, additional valuation
allowances may be required.

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordaitbe’Accounting for Income Taxesithich requires an asset and liability apprc
of accounting for income taxes. “Accounting focdme Taxestequires assessment of the likelihood of realiiagefits associated wi
deferred tax assets for purposes of determiningheine valuation allowance is needed for such dedeiax assets. The Company an
wholly owned U.S. subsidiaries file a consolidatederal income tax return. The Company also fdesreturns in Canada and Ireland.

The Company also follows the provisions of “Accangtfor Uncertainty in Income Taxes” which presesta model for the recognition
and measurement of a tax position taken or expeotbd taken in a tax return, and provides guidamcderecognition, classification,
interest and penalties, disclosure and transitime Company’s policy is to record interest andaghtgnif any, as interest expense.

Revenue Recognition

The Company derives its revenues from several ssurthe Company’s Engineering Services and Infooma echnology Services
segments perform consulting and project solutiemgices. All of the Company’s segments perfornff stagmentation services and
derive revenue from permanent placement fees. midjerity of the Company’s revenues are invoiceddime and materials basis.

Project Services
The Company recognizes revenues in accordancecwitent revenue recognition standards under ASCAg06&h clarifies application ¢

U.S. generally accepted accounting principles vemee transactions. Project services are gengrallyided on a cost-plus, fixed-fee or
time-andmaterial basis. Typically, a customer will outszia discrete project or activity and the Compasuemes responsibility for tl
performance of such project or activity. The Compeecognizes revenues and associated costs arssi lgaisis as services are provided
to the customer and costs are incurred using ifi@mees. The Company, from time to time, entets aontracts requiring the
completion of specific deliverables. The Comparaynmecognize revenues on these deliverables aintleethe client accepts and
approves the deliverables. In instances wheregrsgrvices are provided on a fixed-price bagisthe contract will extend beyond a 12-
month period, revenue is recorded in accordande tivéé terms of each contract. In some instaneggnue is billed at the time certain
milestones are reached, as defined in the contRetvenues under these arrangements are recogrsizbd costs on these contracts are
incurred. Amounts invoiced in excess of revenagesgnized are recorded as deferred revenue, irindeccounts payable and accrued
expenses on the accompanying balance sheetshdninstances, revenue is billed and recorded basewd contractual rates per hour
(i.e., percentage of completion). In addition, saraetracts contain “Performance Fees” (bonusesjdmpleting a contract under
budget. Performance Fees, if any, are recordedhwhmed. Some contracts also limit revenues dlimigb to specified maximum
amounts. Provision for contract losses, if ang,rande in the period such losses are determinedcdntracts where there is a
deliverable, the work is not complete on a speciétiverable and the revenue is not recognizedctisés are deferred. The associated
costs are expensed when the related revenue igiieed.
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RCM TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Fiscal Years Ended January 3, 2015 and December 28)13
(Dollars in thousands, except share and per sk@meunts, unless otherwise indicat

1.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue Recognition (Continued)

See description of revenue recognition policy fengtruction management and engineering servicesvial “transit receivables and
transit payables.”

Consulting and Staffing Services

Revenues derived from consulting and staffing seiviare recorded on a gross basis as servicesrémenped and associated costs have
been incurred using employees of the Company. &kewvices are typically billed on a time and niatdrasis.

In certain cases, the Company may utilize otherpgaomes and their employees to fulfill customer feguents. In these cases, the
Company receives an administrative fee for arrapén, billing for, and collecting the billings egked to these companies. The customer
is typically responsible for assessing the workhese companies who have responsibility for actdftaof their personnel to the
customer. Under these circumstances, the Compagytsted revenues are net of associated cose(@Hly recognizing the net
administrative fee only).

Transit Receivables and Transit Payables

From time to time, the Company’s Engineering segreeters into agreements to provide, among othegsh construction management
and engineering services. In certain circumstgribesCompany may acquire equipment as a purchagjagt for the client for a fee.
Pursuant to these agreements, the Company maggaye subcontractors to provide construction agragervices or contracts with
manufacturers on behalf of the Company’s clientgrazure equipment or fixtures; b) typically eaanixed percentage of the total
project value or a negotiated marg-on subcontractor or procurement charges as anf¢e) assumes no ownership or risks of inven
In such situations, the Company acts as an ageigrihe provisions of “Overall Considerations opBeing Revenue Gross as a
Principal versus Net as an Agent” and thereforegaizing revenue on a “net-basis.” The Compangnerevenue on a “net” basis on
relevant engineering and construction managemeigqis, which require subcontractor/procurementscostransit costs. In those
situations, the Company charges the client a nagatifee, which is reported as net revenue wheredarDuring the fifty-three week
period ended January 3, 2015, total gross billimgsuding both transit cost billings and the Comyia earned fees, was $72.6 million,
for which the Company recognized $41.0 milliontsfriet fee as revenue. During the fifty-two weekigd ended December 28, 2013,
total gross billings, including both transit codtibbgs and the Company’s earned fees, was $67LBomifor which the Company
recognized $30.7 million of its net fee as reventibe net fee revenue from these agreements reyees2l.2% of the Company’s total
revenues for the fifty-three week period ended dan@, 2015 as compared to 18.0% for the comparaise year period.

Under the terms of the agreements, the Compairypiisally not required to pay the subcontractor uritleEngineering contracts or
staffing agencies under the Information Technologgtract until after the corresponding payment ftbenCompany'’s client is
received. Upon invoicing the end client on beloélthe subcontractor or staffing agency the Compangrds this amount simultaneot
as both a “transit account receivable” and “traasitount payable” as the amount when paid to thegaay is due to and generally paid
to the subcontractor within a few days. The Comypgpically does not pay a given transit accountgtde until the related transit
account receivable is collected. The Companyssitaiccounts payable usually exceeds the Compéiayisit accounts receivable but
absolute amounts and spreads fluctuate significéirtin quarter to quarter in the normal courseusdibess. The transit accounts
receivable was $3.8 million and related transioacts payable was $6.7 million, a net payable o® $aillion, as of January 3,
2015. The transit accounts receivable was $4.0omiand related transit accounts payable was #8I®n, a net receivable of $0.1
million, as of December 28, 2013.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Fiscal Years Ended January 3, 2015 and December 28)13
(Dollars in thousands, except share and per sk@meunts, unless otherwise indicat

1.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue Recognition (Continued)

Permanent Placement Services

The Company earns permanent placement fees fromdprg permanent placement services. Fees foepheats are recognized at the
time the candidate commences employment. The Coyngpaarantees its permanent placements on a pidoasss for 90 days. In the
event a candidate is not retained for the 90-daypg@ethe Company will provide a suitable replacaetreandidate. In the event a
replacement candidate cannot be located, the Compifirprovide a prorated refund to the client. Alowance for refunds, based upon
the Company'’s historical experience, is recordeithénfinancial statements. Revenues are recomedgross basis. Such revenues were
not significant for the years ended January 3, 2iidDecember 28, 2013.

Concentration

During the fiscal year ended January 3, 2015, @GmRower Group (the Company primarily serviced @ntRower Generation as a
subcontractor through Black and McDonald Limiteddl &nited Technologies Corporation accounted fodZiland 12.9% of the
Company’s revenues, respectively, and as of JarBj&915 represented 29.4% and 3.3% of the Compargounts receivable, net. No
other customer accounted for 10% or more of the @om's revenues. As of January 3, 2015, New Yakd? Authority total accounts
receivable balance (including transit accountsivedde of $1.4 million) was $8.9 million or 14.1%the total of accounts receivable, net
and transit accounts receivable. No other cust@oeounted for 10% or more of the Company’s aceoreteivable, net. The
Company’s five, ten and twenty largest customeceated for approximately 48.1%, 61.4% and 69.&%4pectively, of the Company’s
revenues for fiscal year ended January 3, 2015.

During the fiscal year ended December 28, 2013a@mPower Group (the Company primarily servicedg®ino Power Generation as a
subcontractor through Black and McDonald Limiteddl &nited Technologies Corporation accounted fo8%8and 12.6% of the
Company’s revenues, respectively, and as of Dece&e2013 represented 21.8% and 5.3% of the Cog'gancounts receivable, net.
No other customer accounted for 10% or more ofdbmpany’s revenues. As of December 28, 2013, Nevk Power Authority total
accounts receivable balance (including transit actoreceivable of $2.2 million) was $10.2 million16.6% of the total of accounts
receivable, net and transit accounts receivable otRer customer accounted for 10% or more of thea@any’s accounts receivable, net.
The Company'’s five, ten and twenty largest cust@naecounted for approximately 45.2%, 56.5% and%5réspectively, of the
Company’s revenues for fiscal year ended Decembe2@13.

Foreign Currency Trandation

The functional currency of the Company’s Canadiavsiliary is the local currency. Assets and litib# are translated at period-end
exchange rates. Income and expense items aréabethat weighted average rates of exchange pieyailiring the year. Any
translation adjustments are included in the accatadlother comprehensive income account in stodkhgl equity. Transactions
executed in different currencies resulting in exgeadjustments are translated at spot rates anlling foreign exchange transaction
gains and losses are included in the results afatipes.

Comprehensive | ncome

Comprehensive income consists of net income argidiorcurrency translation adjustments.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Fiscal Years Ended January 3, 2015 and December 28)13
(Dollars in thousands, except share and per sk@meunts, unless otherwise indicat

1.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Per Share Data

Basic net income per share is calculated usingvikighted-average number of common shares outsigualdining the period. Diluted net
income per share is calculated using the weightedage number of common shares plus dilutive p@iecdmmon shares outstanding
during the period. Potential dilutive common slsazensist of stock options and other stock-basedt@swnder the Company’s stock
compensation plans, when their impact is dilutiBecause of the Company’s capital structure, glbreed earnings pertain to common
shareholders and no other adjustments are necessary

Share - Based Compensation

The Company recognizes share-based compensatiotheveesting period of an award based on fairevalithe grant date determined
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Gierassumptions are used to determine the faiewaflistockbased payment awards
of traded options, and because changes in the agsuimptions can materially affect the fair valstngate, the existing models may not
provide a reliable single measure of the fair valtithe employee stock options. Management asséisseassumptions and
methodologies used to calculate estimated fairevafistock-based compensation when share-basedswas granted. Circumstances
may change and additional data may become avaitafeletime, which could result in changes to thessumptions and methodologies
and thereby materially impact our fair value deteation. See Note 11 for additional share-basedpamsation information.

Restricted stock units are recognized at theinfalue. The amount of compensation cost is medsumehe grant date fair value of the
equity instrument issued. The compensation coitefestricted stock units is recognized ovenemting period of the restricted stock
units on a straightine basis. Restricted stock units typically irdgudividend accrual equivalents, which means thatdividends paid £
the Company during the vesting period become ddepagable after the vesting period assuming thetgess restricted stock unit fully
vests. Dividends for these grants are accrueth@uividend payment dates and included in accquayable and accrued expenses ol
accompanying consolidated balance sheet. Dividrdestricted share units that ultimately do west are forfeited.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Eatetrtising expense was $680 and $490 for thel figzas ended January 3, 2015 and
December 28, 2013, respectively.

. FISCAL YEAR

The Company follows a 52/53 week fiscal reportiatendar ending on the Saturday closest to DeceBibeilhe fiscal year ended
January 3, 2015 (fiscal 2014) was a 53-week repprtear and that ended December 28, 2013 (fisé8)20as a 52veek reporting yea
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3. USE OF ESTIMATES AND UNCERTAINTIES

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith accounting principles generally acceptethie United States requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfénztttae reported amounts of assets and liakslitievenues and expenses and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiestual results could differ from those estimates.

The Company uses estimates to calculate an all@ev@naoubtful accounts on its accounts receivalaldsquacy of reserves, the tax rate
applied and the valuation of certain assets amilitiaaccounts. These estimates can be signifitathe operating results and financial
position of the Company.

The Company has risk participation arrangements reispect to workers compensation and health natgance. The amounts included
in the Company’s costs related to this risk pgstition are estimated and can vary based on chamgesumptions, the Company’s
claims experience or the providers included inabsociated insurance programs.

The Company can be affected by a variety of fadgtarsiding uncertainty relating to the performawné¢he general economy,
competition, demand for the Company’s serviceseesdylitigation and claims and the hiring, trainargl retention of key employees.

Fair Value of Financial | nstruments

The Company’s carrying value of financial instrunsgrconsisting primarily of accounts receivablansit accounts receivable, accounts
payable and accrued expenses, and transit acquaydble approximates fair value due to their ligyidr their short-term nature. The
Company does not have derivative products in placeanage risks related to foreign currency fluttues for its foreign operations or
for interest rate changes.

4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

The Company’s accounts receivable are compriséallawss:

January 3, December 28,
2015 2013
Billed $47,31 $35,41!
Accrued and unbille: 4,85 7,89¢
Work-in-progres: 8,021 13,39«
Allowance for doubtful accounts and sales disco (1,019 (978)
Accounts receivable, n $59,18 $55,72¢

Unbilled receivables primarily represent revenuasied whereby those services are ready to be kifleaf the balance sheet date. Work-
in-process primarily represents revenues earnedrwuhtracts which the Company contractually ingsiat future dates.
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4,

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED)

The Company has a subcontract agreement with BladkDonald Limited (“B&M”) to provide engineeringral procurement services
under B&M’s master services agreement with OntBoaver Generation (“OPG”). The Company understaimaisin October 2014, OPG
provided to B&M notice of default and terminatioheolarge purchase order from OPG to B&M with rezpge which B&M had engaged
several subcontractors, including the Company. Bédilfied the Company that it is disputing OPG’saiéf claim on this purchase
order. As of January 3, 2015 the Company had cqudstg accounts receivable to B&M of $4.9 milliondan the disputed purchase order
and, including such amount, a total of $12.2 millaf outstanding accounts receivable to B&M for kvperformed by the Company as a
subcontractor to B&M. OPG has indicated to the @any that it will not make any further payment8&M on the project in dispute.
The Company has received notice from B&M that wBi&M disputes OPG'’s assertion it is in default, B&dlieves that in the event
that it is in default under its agreement with OB@n the Company may also be in default undexgteement with B&M. The Compa
does not agree with this assertion. The Compaeg dot believe that any of its account receivabits B&M have been materially
impaired and believes that its accounts receivaiite B&M remain collectible, subject to existingserves. However, it is possible that a
protracted dispute between OPG and B&M may impgaeiGompany’s ability to collect its outstanding @aats receivable in a timely
manner.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are comprised of the folowi

January 3, December 28,
2015 2013
Equipment and furnitur $2,58¢ $2,45¢
Computers and syster 6,55 5,67(
Leasehold improvemen 781 633
9,91¢ 8,751
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortize 6,622 6,46¢€
Property and equipment, r $3,297 $2,29:

The Company writes off fully depreciated assethaaar. In the fiscal years ended January 3, 20@BDecember 28, 2013, write-offs
were $954 and $1,169, respectively. For the figeats ended January 3, 2015 and December 28, @8ffciation expense was $1,107
and $995, respectively.

ACQUISITIONS
General

The Company has acquired numerous companies thoough history and those acquisitions have geheiatluded significant future
contingent consideration. The Company gives narasse that it will make acquisitions in the futared if they do make acquisitions
gives no assurance that such acquisitions willuoeessful.
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6.

ACQUISITIONS (CONTINUED)
Future Contingent Payments

As of January 3, 2015, the Company had two actbgmiigition agreements whereby additional contingemntsideration may be earned
the acquired entities: 1) effective July 1, 2012 @ompany acquired certain assets of BGA, LLC (“BzAnd 2) effective August 1,
2014 the Company acquired all of the stock of PGimtnm, Inc. (“PCI"), an Ontario amalgamated corpiora as more fully described
below. The Company cannot estimate future contingapments with any certainty. However, the Comypastimates future contingent
payments at January 3, 2015 as follows:

Fiscal Yeal BGA PCI Total
2015 $217 $262 $47¢
2016 271 197 46€
2017 - 307 307
Estimated future contingent consideration paym $48¢ $76¢€ $1,25¢

Actual future contingent payments may materialffedifrom the estimates above. Future contingayngents to be made to BGA and
PCI are capped at cumulative maximums of $2.7 amiland $2.0 million, respectively. The Companyreates future contingent
consideration in payments based on forecastedpeaftce and recorded the net present value of aqsected payments as of Janual
2015. The measurement is based on significantsbat are not observable in the market, whidir‘Falue Measurements and
Disclosures” (ASU Topic 820-10-35) refers to as éle¥ inputs.

During the fiscal years ended January 3, 2015 asxkBber 28, 2013, the Company reduced its liabditcontingent consideration by
$129 and $92, respectively. The Company paid 80®n in contingent consideration during thecéé year ended January 3, 2015 and
no contingent consideration during the fiscal yeailed December 28, 2013.

Shor Long

Termr Termr Total
Contingent consideration balance as of Decembe? @83 $52¢ $407 $93(
Recorded for PC 261 50t 76¢€
Paid in current yee (313 - (319
Liability reduced in current ye: (117 (12 (129
Moved from long term to short ter 12t (125) -
Contingent consideration balance as of Januarg5 $47¢ $77E $1,25¢

PCI

Effective August 1, 2014, the Company purchasedstbek of PCI. PCl is a Toronto, Canada based eeging company specializing in
the design, installation, supervision and commissig of high voltage electrical equipment in subetegs and power plants. PCI provic
comprehensive design and engineering of substatibasy voltage level, system studies, 3D impleiatéon, site commissioning, project
management, consulting and site management. RCkcexthe purchase of PCI to complement and exp&i'®engineering services
offerings and provide RCM'’s customers with a stemdepth of experienced engineering resourcesChmepany believes that the PCI
assembled workforce consists of highly trained expkrienced engineers that will greatly assist R€kecuting future growth in

revenues. The PCI acquisition will operate as phtthe Company’s Engineering segment. The PCilpase consideration consisted of
the following:
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6. ACQUISITIONS (CONTINUED)

Assumption of current liabilities, net of currestsats $6
Contingent consideration, net present vi 76€
Total consideratior $772

The shareholders of PCI are eligible to receive-plusing contingent consideration upon PCI exaegdiertain base levels of operating
income, potentially earned over three years andaexceed a total of $2.0 million cumulativelyhefamount recorded for contingent
consideration represents the acquisition datevédire of expected consideration to be paid base@Giis forecasted operating income
during the three year period.

Estimated expected consideration was valued baselifferent possible scenarios for projected opegancome. Each case was
assigned a probability which was used to calcudatestimate of the forecasted future payments.n Bhdiscount rate was applied to
these forecasted future payments to determinedtpeistion date fair value to be recorded. Attihge of the acquisition, the book and
tax basis of assets and liabilities acquired ape@agpmately the same.

The acquisition has been accounted for under thehpse method of accounting. The total prelimirestymated purchase price has been
allocated as follows:

Fixed asset $2¢€
Restricted covenan 23
Customer relationshiy 45
Goodwill 67¢€
Total consideratior $77:

7. GOODWILL

Goodwill represents the premium paid over thevialue of the net tangible and intangible assetsiaed,in business combinations. The
Company is required to assess the carrying valits oéporting units that contain goodwill at leastan annual basis. The Company has
the option to first assess qualitative factorsetedmine whether it is necessary to perform a tiep-snpairment test. If the Company
believes, as a result of the qualitative assessrtiettit is more likely than not that the fair walof a reporting unit is less than the
carrying value, the quantitative impairment teseiguired. The Company formally assesses thedaaijive factors, and if necessary,
conducts its annual goodwill impairment test atheflast day of the Company’s fiscal November ear or if indicators of impairment
exist. During all periods presented, the Compagtgminined that the existing qualitative factors mlid suggest that an impairment of
goodwill exists. Since there have been no indisabd impairment, the Company has not performedamtjtative impairment test.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwilltfa fifty-three week period ended January 3, 20&5a follows:

Information Specialty Healt
Technology Engineering Care Total
Balance as of December 28, 2( $5,51¢ $2,32¢ $1,70: $9,54¢
Gooduwill recorded, PCI acquisitic - 67¢ - 67¢
Balance as of January 3, 2C $5,51¢ $3,00¢ $1,70: $10,22:
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Company evaluates long-lived assets and irtibngssets with definite lives for impairment whesreevents or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amouino@isset may not be recoverable. When the Congeteymines that it is probable tt
undiscounted future cash flows will not be suffiti¢o recover an asset’s carrying amount, the asseatitten down to its fair

value. Assets to be disposed of by sale, if arg/reported at the lower of the carrying amourfaorvalue less cost to sell. The
Company’s intangible assets consist of customatiogiships and non-compete agreements.

The following table reflects the components ofin&ngible assets, excluding goodwill, as of Japar2015:

Information
Engineering Technology Total

Balance as of December 28, 2( $17¢ $37 $21€
Amortization of intangibles during the

fifty-three week period ended

January 3, 201 58 32 90
Intangibles acquired, PCI acquisiti 68 - 68
Balance as of January 3, 2C $18¢ $5 $19¢

The Company periodically writes off fully amortizedangible assets. The Company did not writeaoff fully amortized intangibles for

the fiscal years ended January 3, 2015 and Dece?8h@013.

Schedule of Intangible Assets by class at Janua2(B5:

Information
Engineering Technology Total
Restricted covenan $44 $- $44
Customer relationshiy 14E 5 15C
Balance as of January 3, 2C $18¢ $5 $194
Expected Future Amortization Expense:
Information
Fiscal Yeal Engineering Technology Total
2015 $7C $5 $7E
2016 56 - 56
2017 41 - 41
2018 22 - 22
Total $18¢ $5 $19¢
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9. LINE OF CREDIT

The Company and its subsidiaries are party to m éggeement with Citizens Bank of Pennsylvania,rated and restated effective
February 20, 2009, which provides for a $35 milliemolving credit facility and includes a sub-linit $5 million for letters of credit (the
“Revolving Credit Facility”). The Revolving Credracility has been amended several times, moshtigaen December 12, 2014 when
the maturity date was extended to December 11,.2800rowings under the Revolving Credit Facilitydn interest at one of two
alternative rates, as selected by the Companychtiaaremental borrowing. These alternatives @&IBOR (London Interbank Offere
Rate), plus applicable margin, or (ii) the agentka prime rate. The Company also pays unusedidies based on the amount of the
Revolving Credit Facility that is not drawn. Unddime fees are recorded as interest expense.

All borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facilaye collateralized by all of the assets of the Camypand its subsidiaries and a pledge
of the stock of its subsidiaries. The Revolvingdt Facility also contains various financial arah#inancial covenants, such as a
covenant that restricts on the Company’s abilithaorow in order to pay dividends. The Company@aspecial cash dividend on
December 30, 2014 which was expressly permitteéuitslamended Revolving Credit Facility. The Campwas in full compliance
with the covenants in its Revolving Credit Facility of January 3, 2015.

The Company had borrowings of $20.0 million asafuhry 3, 2015 and no borrowings as of Decembe2@B3. At January 3, 2015 ¢
December 28, 2013, there were letters of creditantling for $0.8 million. At January 3, 2015, @empany had availability for
additional borrowings under the Revolving Creditifiey of $14.2 million.

10. PER SHARE DATA
The Company uses the treasury stock method toladdcihe weighted-average shares used for diliaeuregs per share. The number of
common shares used to calculate basic and dilatedngs per share for fiscal years ended Januat91h and December 28, 2013 was
determined as follows:

Fiscal Years Ende

January 3, December 28,
2015 2013
Basic weighted average shares outstan 12,516,45 12,343,26
Dilutive effect of outstanding stock optio 214,10¢ 135,11:
Weighted average dilutive shares outstan 12,730,56 12,478,37

There were 40,000 and 97,500 absolute anti-dilghares not included in the calculation of comntoglsequivalents for fiscal year
ended January 3, 2015 and December 28, 2013, tagbhgec These were determined to be anti-diluthezause the exercise prices of
these shares for the period were higher than theage price of all shares for the same period.
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10. PER SHARE DATA (CONTINUED)

11.

Unissued shares of common stock were reservetiddiotlowing purposes:

January 3, December 28,
2015 2013
Exercise of options outstandii 53,00( 276,90(
Restricted stock awards outstand 500,00( 300,00(
Future grants of options or sha 425,00( 34,10(
Shares reserved for employee stock purchase 122,48 189,57¢
Total 1,100,48. 800,57¢

SHARE BASED COMPENSATION

At January 3, 2015, the Company had four shareebaswloyee compensation plans. The Company meathedair value of share-
based awards, if and when granted, based on tl-Bleholes method and using the closing markeemiche Company’s common
stock on the date of grant. Awards vest over plsrianging from one to three years and expire witldi years of issuance. Share-based
compensation expense related to awards is amoitizectordance with applicable vesting periods gisiire straight-line method. Share-
based compensation expense of $806 and $849 wagnized for the fiscal years ended January 3, 2BtbDecember 28, 2013,
respectively.

As of January 3, 2015, the Company had approxim&2I0 million of total unrecognized compensatiostaelated to all non-vested
share-based awards granted under the Companytsugashare-based plans, which the Company expertsdgnize over approximately
a three-year period. These amounts do not indlueleost of any additional share-based awardarigitbe granted in future periods or
reflect any potential changes in the Company’ssiitufe rate.

The Company granted 15,000 stock options and 200@4lricted stock units during the fiscal yearezhdanuary 3, 2015 and 5,000 st
options and 40,000 restricted stock units durirgfibcal year ended December 28, 2013.

The Company estimates that it will recognize experisr all unvested share-based awards outstaadinfJanuary 3, 2015 as follows:

Fiscal Yeal Amouni
2015 $1,00:
2016 564
2017 46¢

$2,03¢

It is important to note the above estimates aredbas certain assumptions that are subject to éand that the actual expense
recognized may materially differ from above.
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11. SHARE BASED COMPENSATION (CONTINUED)

The risk-free rate of return is based on the yiltd.S. Treasury Strips with terms equal to theeeted life of the grants as of the grant
date. The expected term of grant is based onrluatstock option exercise experience. The Compesed its historical stock price
volatility to compute the expected stock price tititg. The expected dividend yield is based oa @ompany’s fiscal 2014 dividend
rate. The annual forfeiture rate is based on theg@any’s historical experience. The Blagkholes option weighted average assump
used in the valuation of share based awards fdiigbal years ended January 3, 2015 and Decembh@028 were as follows:

Fiscal Years Ende

January 3, December 28,
2015 2013
Weighted average ri-free interest rat 1.61% 1.74%
Expected term of optio 5 year 5 year
Expected stock price volatilil 37% 52%
Expected dividend yiel 0.00% 0.00%
Annual forfeiture ratt 2.48Y% 5.98%
Weightec-average grant date fair val $2.3:¢ $2.9¢

1996 Executive Stock Option Plan (the 1996 Plan)

The 1996 Plan, approved by the Company’s stockin®ldeAugust 1996 and amended in April 1999, predifor the issuance of up to
1,250,000 shares of common stock to officers aiydekeployees of the Company and its subsidiariesutitt January 1, 2006, at which
time the 1996 Plan expired. Options are geneatiyited at fair market value at the date of gramte Compensation Committee of the
Board of Directors determined the vesting periothattime of grant. As of January 3, 2015, optitmpurchase 2,000 shares of common
stock granted under the 1996 Plan were outstanding.

2000 Employee Stock I ncentive Plan (the 2000 Plan)

The 2000 Plan, approved by the Company’s stockineldeApril 2001, provides for the issuance of a1 {500,000 shares of the
Companys common stock to officers and key employees ofbmpany and its subsidiaries or to consultantsaaivisors utilized by th
Company. The Compensation Committee of the BohRirectors could award incentive stock optionsion-qualified stock options, as
well as stock appreciation rights, and determimedviesting period at the time of grant. As of ZagB, 2015, options to purchase 26,
shares of common stock granted under the 2000viRdam outstanding.

2007 Omnibus Equity Compensation Plan (the 2007 Plan)

The 2007 Plan, approved by the Company’s stockinelideJune 2007, provides for the issuance of uf0000 shares of the Company’
common stock to officers, non-employee directonspleyees of the Company and its subsidiaries oswitents and advisors utilized by
the Company. No more than 350,000 shares of constomk in the aggregate could be issued pursuagaias of stock awards, stock
units, performance shares and other stock-basediawalo more than 300,000 shares of common stdttkrespect to awards could be
granted to any individual during any fiscal yedihe Compensation Committee of the Board of Directistermined the vesting period at
the time of grant. As of January 3, 2015, optitmpurchase 24,500 shares of common stock, asas@00,000 restricted stock units,
were outstanding under the 2007 Plan.
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11. SHARE BASED COMPENSATION (CONTINUED)
The 1996 Plan, 2000 Plan and 2007 Plan are expivddherefore no additional shares are availale@rds thereunder.
2014 Omnibus Equity Compensation Plan (the 2014 Plan)

The 2014 Plan, approved by the Company’s stockinelideDecember 2014, provides for the issuancgpdbd625,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock to officers, non-employeeators, employees of the Company and its subgdiar consultants and advisors
utilized by the Company. The Compensation Committethe Board of Directors determines the vespiedod at the time of grant. As
of January 3, 2015, under the 2014 Plan, 200,0&tficted stock units were outstanding and 425,0@0es were available for awards
thereunder.

Restricted Stock Units

On December 11, 2014, the Company granted 200¢¥flated stock units all of which fully vest aftaree years of continued

service. All of these restricted stock units imtgudividend accrual equivalents, which means thatdividends paid by the Company
during the three year vesting period become dugragdble after the three year vesting period agsyithie grantee’restricted stock ur
fully vests. Dividends for these grants are actrme the dividend payment dates and included io@aats payable and accrued expenses
on the accompanying consolidated balance sheetiddbids for restricted share units that ultimatidynot vest are forfeited. As of
January 3, 2015, the Company has 500,000 restrittett units outstanding, all of which include diend equivalent rights. Total
dividends accrued and payable upon vesting orestficted stock units as of January 3, 2015 ané&Dber 28, 2013 equals $1.3 million
and $0.3 million, respectively.

Number of Restricted Weighted Average
Stock Units Grant Date Fair
(in thousands Value per Shar
Outstanding nc-vested at December 28, 2C 30C $5.72
Grantec 20C $7.9¢
Vested -
Forfeited or expired -
Outstanding nc-vested at January 3, 20 50C $6.61

Based on the closing price of the Company’s comsiook of $6.89 per share on January 2, 2015, thiesict value of the non-vested
restricted stock units at January 3, 2015 was 8dllibn. As of January 3, 2015, there was appratiety $2.0 million of total
unrecognized compensation cost related to resiritimck units.
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11. SHARE BASED COMPENSATION (CONTINUED)
Stock Option Awards
Transactions related to all stock options undeplalhs are as follows:

All Stock Options Outstandin

Weighted Average

Shares Exercise Prict

Options outstanding as of December 29, 2 307,40( $5.3¢
Options grante 5,00( $5.7¢
Options exercised, n (27,500 $4.1¢
Options forfeited/cancelle (8,000 $5.1¢
Options outstanding as of December 28, 2 276,90( $5.47
Options exercisable as of December 28, Z 221,90( $5.4¢
Intrinsic value of outstanding stock options aPetember 28, 201 $50¢
Intrinsic value of stock options exercised in fispgar ended

December 28, 201 $44
Weighted average grant date fair value of stocloaptissued
during fiscal year ended December 28, 2 $2.9¢
Options outstanding as of December 28, 2 276,90( $5.47
Options grante 15,00( $6.1(
Options exercised, n (185,83f) $4.8¢
Options forfeited in cashless exerci: (42,069 $4.8¢
Options forfeited/cancelle (11,000 $8.81
Options outstanding as of January 3, 2 53,00( $7.65
Options exercisable as of January 3, 2 30,50( $8.8¢
Intrinsic value of outstanding stock options adarfiuary 3, 201 $3c
Intrinsic value of stock options exercised in fispgar ended

January 3, 201 $64(
Weighted average grant date fair value of stocloaptissued
during fiscal year ended January 3, 2! $2.3¢
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11.

SHARE BASED COMPENSATION (CONTINUED)
Stock Option Awards (Continued)

A summary of the status of our nonvested stoclooptbutstanding as of January 3, 2015, and chahgewy the year then ended is
presented as follows:

Weighed-Average

Grant-Date
Nonvested Stock Optior Shares Fair Value
Nonvested at December 28, 2( 55,00( $2.86
Vested 47,50( $2.85
Forfeited 0
Issued nonveste 15,00( $2.33
Nonvested at January 3, 20 22,50( $2.53
The following table summarizes information abowic&toptions outstanding at January 3, 2015:
Weighted-Average
Range of Number of Remaining Weighted-Average
Exercise Price Outstanding Option Contractual Life Exercise Prict
Outstandinc Vested Outstanding Vested Outstanding Vested
$4.16- $5.78 13,00( 5,50( 5.21 3.31 $5.27 $4.65
$6.10- $6.10 15,00( 0 9.37 0 $6.10 $0.00
$9.81- $9.81 25,00( 25,00( 2.54 2.54 $9.81 $9.81
53,00( 30,50¢ 5.13 5.13 $7.65 $8.88

12.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company implemented the 2001 Employee Stoc&hRse Plan (the “Purchase Plawi)h shareholder approval, effective Januar
2001. Under the Purchase Plan, employees meetitgjrt specific employment qualifications are dligito participate and can purchase
shares of common stock semi-annually through phglemluctions at the lower of 85% of the fair mankalue of the stock at the
commencement or end of the offering period. Thelpase plan permits eligible employees to purckhasees of common stock through
payroll deductions for up to 10% of qualified compation. During the fiscal years ended Janua®p35 and December 28, 2013, there
were 67,092 and 58,176 shares issued under thed&ar®lan for net proceeds of $339 and $259, regplgc As of January 3, 2015,
there were 122,484 shares available for issuanderuhe Purchase Plan. Compensation expensesegpireg the discount to the quoted
market price, for the Purchase Plan for the figealrs ended January 3, 2015 and December 28, 284 $114 and $106, respectively.

TREASURY STOCK TRANSACTIONS

Our Board of Directors instituted a share repuref@egram in February 2010, which authorized tipairehase of up to $7.5 million of
the Company'’s outstanding shares of our commork stbprevailing market prices, from time to timeesothe subsequent 12 months. In
February 2011, the share repurchase program wesded through February 2013. During the fiscal gealed December 28, 2013, the
Company repurchased 15,450 shares for an averageghi$5.35 per share. Over the life of this sh@purchase program, the Company
purchased 1,473,306 shares at a total cost of gippaitely $7.5 million, or an average price of $5.09
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12. TREASURY STOCK TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

13.

On October 28, 2013, the Board of Directors autteatian additional repurchase program to purchase $p.0 million of outstanding
shares of common stock at the prevailing markegstifrom time to time over the subsequent 12-mpatfod. On September 30, 2014,
the Board extended this repurchase program thr@ggbber 31, 2015. As of January 3, 2015, the Caypad not purchased any she
under this additional repurchase program. The Gomglid repurchase 3,474 shares in fiscal 2014derdo facilitate employees
exercising stock options to sell shares back tdbepany to fund tax obligations associated withdRercise of stock options.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-11 “Pred#riaof an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net @peg Loss Carryforward, a
Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward ExIJASU 2013-11), which amends ASC 740 “Income dax This update provides
guidance on the financial statement presentatiamofcognized tax benefits when net operatingdasy/forwards, similar tax losses or
tax credit carryforwards exist. We adopted thesjzions of ASU 2013-11 in 2014. This update did Imave a material effect on our
consolidated financial statements.

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standardsrddqa=ASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update ((&BNo. 2014-09 Revenue
from Contracts with Customenghich requires companies to recognize revenue pictithe transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideré&texpects to be entitled in exchange for thgseds or services. The standard will
be effective for the Company beginning in the figsarter of 2017 and early adoption is not permitt€he new standard permits the use
of either the retrospective or cumulative effeansition method on adoption. The Company is etimlgahe effect that ASU 2014-09
will have on its consolidated financial statemeartd related disclosures, including which transitiegthod it will adopt.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014 R&gsentation of Financial Statements — Going Congoghich states management
should evaluate whether there are conditions ontsyeonsidered in the aggregate, that raise damniizd doubt about the entity’s ability
to continue as a going concern within one year #ffte date that the financial statements are issidghagement’s evaluation should be
based on relevant conditions and events that awkand likely to occur at the date that the finahstatements are issued. The stan
update will be effective for the annual period endafter December 15, 2016, and for annual perdodsinterim periods thereafter,
however, early application is permitted. The Conyis evaluating the effect that ASU 2014-15 wile on its consolidated financial
statements and related disclosures.
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14. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company follows “Disclosures about Segmen@noEnterprise and Related Information,” which dithbs standards for companies
to report information about operating segmentsgeggghic areas and major customers. The accoupdligies of each segment are the
same as those described in the summary of signifax@ounting policies (see Note 1 to the Compa@gassolidated Financial
Statements included in its Annual Report on ForaK1for the year ended January 3, 2015.)

Segment operating income includes selling, germrdladministrative expenses directly attributabldhait segment as well as charges for
allocating corporate costs to each of the opera@gments. The following tables reflect the resaftthe segments consistent with the
Company’s management system:

Fiscal Year Ended Information Specialty

January 3, 2015 Engineering Technology Health Care Corporate Total
Revenue $99,72¢ $59,20: $34,84( $ - $193,77!
Cost of service 75,88’ 41,27¢ 24,91 - 142,07
Selling, general and administrati 16,02¢ 14,47¢ 9,36¢ - 39,86¢
Severance and other chart - - - 104 104
Depreciation and amortizatic 881 21€ 10€ - 1,20:%
Operating incom: $6,93¢ $3,23: $45¢ ($109) $10,51¢
Total asset $43,39¢ $15,24. $17,18t $10,90! $87,27:
Capital expenditure $1,19: $ - $11z $78¢t $2,09:
Fiscal Year Ended Information Specialty Health

December 28, 2013 Engineering Technology Care Corporate Total
Revenue $86,74: $55,26: $28,77: $ - $170,77:
Cost of service 67,00¢ 39,41: 20,00( - 126,41
Selling, general and administrati 14,357 13,54( 7,617 - 35,51«
Severance and other chart 342 14z - 4,697 5,181
Depreciation and amortizatic 702 30C 10¢ - 1,111
Operating incom $4,33¢ $1,86¢ $1,04" ($4,69°) $2,55¢
Total asset $42,95: $14,47. $14,33 $14,76° $86,52
Capital expenditure $1,14: $7¢ $3E $151 $1,40¢
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14. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
The Company derives a majority of its revenue fadfites in the United States. Revenues reporteddoh operating segment are all
from external customers. The Company is domiditetthe United States and its segments operatesit/ttited States, Canada and Pu
Rico. Revenues by geographic area for the fiscalsyended January 3, 2015 and December 28, 20H3 émHdows:

Fiscal Year Ende

January 3 December 2€
2015 2013
Revenue:
United State! $139,88I $130,58!
Canads 47,63¢ 34,98¢
Puerto Ricc 6,251 5,20(
$193,77! $170,77!

Total assets by geographic area as of the reppeedds are as follows:

Fiscal Year Ende

January 3 December 2€
2015 2013
Total Assets
United State: $56,76: $62,19¢
Canade 28,77¢ 22,99:
Puerto Ricc 1,73% 1,33:
$87,27: $86,52:
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15. INCOME TAXES
The components of income tax expense (benefitasifellows:

Fiscal Years Ende

January 3, December 28,
2015 2013
Current
Federal $30¢ $45(
State and loce 252 407
Foreign 1,32( 41€
1,88 1,27
Deferred
Federal 1,45¢ (54))
State 42z (157
Foreign 28 22
1,90¢ (676€)
Total $3,787 $597

The components of earnings before income taxesritetl States and foreign jurisdictions were aofed:

Fiscal Years Ende

January 3, December 28,
2015 2013
United State: $5,97¢ $1,17¢
Foreign Jurisdiction 4,622 1,412
$10,60: $2,58°

The consolidated effective income tax rate fordheent year was 35.7% as compared to 24.1% focdheparable prior year period,
principally due to the reversal of liability forghuncertain tax position in fiscal 2013. The ineotax provisions reconciled to the tax
computed at the statutory Federal rate are:

January 3, December 28,
2015 2013
Tax at statutory rate (cred 34.(% 34.(%
State income taxes, net of Federal
income tax benef 4.2 6.5

Permanent difference (0.2 2.€
Foreign income tax ra (2.2 (1.6
Reverse liability for amended retu - (18.9)
Other, ne (0.2) 0.€
Total income tax expent 35.1% 24 .39,
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15. INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)
A reconciliation of the unrecognized tax benefisthe year January 3, 2015:

Unrecognized Tax Benefi

Balance as of December 28, 2( $62¢
Charges for current year tax positic -
Reserves for current year tax posil -

Balance as of January 3, 2C $62¢

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits imdatto the Company’s tax positions is subject targfe based on future events
including, but not limited to, the settlements afjoing audits and/or the expiration of applicaliédiges of limitations. Although the
outcomes and timing of such events are highly uaggrit is reasonably possible that the balanogro$s unrecognized tax benefits will
not change during the next 12 months. However, ghsin the occurrence, expected outcomes and tiafitigose events could cause the
Company’s current estimate to change materialthénfuture.

The Company accounts for penalties or interesteeéla uncertain tax positions as part of its psmri for income taxes and records such
amounts to interest expense. The Company recaordedpense for penalties or interest in the figears ended January 3, 2015 and
December 28, 2013.

At January 3, 2015 and December 28, 2013, deféasedssets and liabilities consist of the following

January 3, December 28,
2015 2013

Deferred tax asset

Allowance for doubtful accoun $35¢ $391
Acquisition amortization, ne 1,05¢ 1,64z
Reserves and accrus 301 1,55¢
Other 511 33€
Total deferred tax asse 2,22¢ 3,921
Deferred tax liabilities

Prepaid expense defer (343 (367)
Bonus depreciation to be revers (318 (11¢)
Canada deferred tax liability, n (160 (132)
Total deferred tax liabilitie (821) (617)
Total deferred tax assets, | $1,40¢ $3,31(
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15.

16.

17.

INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)

The Company conducts its operations in multiplejaisdictions in the United States, Canada andtBuRico. The Company and its
subsidiaries file a consolidated U.S. Federal inedax return and file in various states. The Comgjzafederal income tax returns have
been examined through 2010. The Internal Reverwdc® is currently examining fiscal tax years 2@ht 2012. The State of New
Jersey is currently examining fiscal tax years 2006ugh 2012. Except for New Jersey and otheitdiinexceptions, the Company is no
longer subject to audits by state and local takarities for tax years prior to 2010.

CONTINGENCIES

From time to time, the Company is a defendant aingiff in various legal actions that arise in th@mal course of business. As such,
Company is required to assess the likelihood ofadwerse outcomes to these matters as well astjgbtemges of losses and possible
recoveries. The Company may not be covered byanse as it pertains to some or all of these nmmttArdetermination of the amount
the provision required for these commitments amtingencies, if any, which would be charged to gays, is made after careful analy
of each matter. Once established, a provisionchayge in the future due to new developments angdg®in circumstances, and could
increase or decrease the Company’s earnings ipettied that the changes are made. As of Janu&§1%, the Company did not accrue
for any such liabilities. Included in the Compasgiccounts payable and accrued expenses is aiprofos losses from legal matters
aggregating $0.1 million as of December 28, 20A8serted claims in these matters sought approxiyn@#6 million and $10.7 million
in damages as of January 3, 2015 and Decembef28, Bspectively.

The Company is also subject to other pending lpgateedings and claims that arise from time to timéhe ordinary course of
business, which may not be covered by insurance.

SEVERANCE AND OTHER CHARGES

During the year ended December 28, 2013, the Coynipanrred one-time charges related to three ermteat) facilities consolidation
charges the Company elected to consolidate its Canadiaratipas by consolidating its Mississauga locatiwo its expanded Pickerit
location, and the Company closed its Mason, OHicafThe costs associated with the consolidatiooffices in Canada primarily
related to statutory severance requirements raguitom labor laws in Canada. The charges assutiaith the Company’s closed
Mason, Ohio office represent future rent paymerteraby the Company will not utilize the premisgsth2 Company engaged in a
contested proxy solicitation which culminated igraup of stockholders winning two seats on the Camys board of directors and the
subsequent retirement of its former President dmdf@Executive Officer, Leon Kopyt; and 3) the Caang incurred professional fees
connected with a research and development taxtaedly related to prior tax years.

The Company incurred $0.1 million in severance athér charges for the fifty-three week period end@duary 3, 2015 and $5.2 million

for the comparable prior year period. The costhéncurrent period primarily related to professibiees associated with the settlement
agreements entered into following the Companysafi013 proxy contest.
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18.

19.

RETIREMENT PLANS
Profit Sharing Plan

The Company maintains a 401(k) profit sharing ftarthe benefit of eligible employees in the Unitehtes and other similar plans in
Canada and Puerto Rico (the “Retirement Planste 401(k) plan includes a cash or deferred arrapgépursuant to Section 401(k) of
the Internal Revenue Code sponsored by the Comjpgmypvide eligible employees an opportunity toedtefompensation and have such
deferred amounts contributed to the 401(k) plaa pne-tax basis, subject to certain limitationsie Tompany, at the discretion of the
Board of Directors, may make contributions of casmatch deferrals of compensation by participantbe Retirement

Plans. Contributions to the Retirement Plans atatg operations by the Company for the fiscal yearded January 3, 2015 and
December 28, 2013 were $569 and $424, respectively.

COMMITMENTS
Executive Severance Agreements with Kevin Miller and Rocco Campanelli

The Company is a party to Executive Severance Ageegs (the “Executive Severance Agreements”) withd® Campanelli, the
Company’s President and Chief Executive OfficeofaSebruary 28, 2014, and Kevin Miller, the Comparghief Financial Officer,
which set forth the terms and conditions of cerfmgments to be made by the Company to each exedntthe event, while employed
by the Company, such executive experiences (a)rartation of employment unrelated to a “Change émttol” (as defined therein) or
(b) there occurs a Change in Control and eithghé)executive’s employment is terminated for aoeearelated to the Change in Control
or (ii) the executive remains continuously employéth the Company for a specified period of timédwing the Change in Control (i.«
twelve months for Mr. Campanelli and three montirsMr. Miller).

Under the terms of the Executive Severance Agretsnérither (a) the executive is involuntarilyrrénated by the Company for any
reason other than “Cause” (as defined therein)sdbility” (as defined therein) or death, or (b) éhecutive resigns for “Good

Reason” (as defined therein), and, in each caedgtimination is not a “Termination Related to a@ie in Control” (as defined below),
the executive will receive the following severapegments: (i) an amount equal to 1.5 times the sli(@) the executive’s annual base
salary as in effect immediately prior to the teration date (before taking into account any reductiat constitutes Good Reason)
(“Annual Base Salary”) and (b) the highest annumdus paid to the executive in any of the threeafigears immediately preceding the
executive’s termination date (“Bonus”), to be paidnstallments over the twelve month period foliog/the executives termination dat:
and (i) for a period of eighteen months followitige executive’s termination date, a monthly paynseptal to the monthly COBRA
premium that the executive is required to pay tatiooe medical, vision, and dental coverage, fardslf and, where applicable, his
spouse and eligible dependents.

Notwithstanding the above, if the executive hasrmination as described above and can reasonabigrdgrate that such termination
would constitute a Termination Related to a Chandeontrol, and a Change in Control occurs with2® Hays following the executive’'s
termination date, the executive will be entitleddoeive the payments set forth below for a TertionaRelated to a Change in Control,
less any amounts already paid to the executiven gpasummation of the Change in Control.
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19. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)
Executive Severance Agreements with Kevin Miller and Rocco Campanelli (Continued)

Under the terms of the Executive Severance Agresniém Change in Control occurs and (a) the etreeexperiences a Termination
Related to a Change in Control on account of (iln&oluntary termination by the Company for anys@a other than Cause, death, or
Disability, (ii) an involuntary termination by ti@ompany within a specified period of time followiagChange in Control (i.e., twelve
months for Mr. Campanelli and three months for Miller) on account of Disability or death, or (i) resignation by the executive with
Good Reason; or (b) a resignation by the executiith, or without Good Reason, which results inrani@ation date that is the last day
the specified period (i.e., twelve months for Man@panelli and three months for Mr. Miller) follovgra Change in Control, then the
executive will receive the following severance pays: (1) a lump sum payment equal to two timestima of the executive’s (a)
Annual Base Salary and (b) Bonus; and (2) a lunmp gayment equal to twenfgur multiplied by the monthly COBRA premium coas
in effect immediately prior to the executive’s ténation date, for the executive to continue medidehtal and vision coverage, as
applicable, in such Company plans for himself @napplicable, his spouse and eligible dependents.

The Executive Severance Agreements provide tliheiExecutive remains continuously employed fguecied period of time followin
a Change in Control (i.e., twelve months for Mrn@anelli and three months for Mr. Miller) and is@oyed by the Company on the |
day of such specified period, the executive witlgige a lump sum payment equal to two times the glutine executives (a) Annual Bas
Salary and (b) Bonus (the “Change in Control Paytiertf the executive receives the Change in Colnflayment, the executive will not
be eligible to receive any severance payments umddgxecutive Severance Agreement.

Separation Agreement with Leon Kopyt

On January 22, 2014, the Company and Mr. Kopytredteto a Separation Agreement and General Re(#aséSeparation
Agreement”) in connection with his retirement as Bresident and Chief Executive Officer, effectaseof February 28, 2014.

Under the Separation Agreement, Mr. Kopyt rece@edsh severance payment of approximately $2.7omilless applicable deductions
and withholdings, to be paid to Mr. Kopyt in a detump sum following the end of the six-month perfrom his retirement date. The
Separation Agreement also contains mutual relemsg®ther provisions customary to such agreements.

Prior to entering into the Separation Agreement, Kipyt and the Company were party to an Employmgreement, Termination
Benefits Agreement and Severance Agreement, athich terminated upon execution of the Separatigre@ment.
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19. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)
Operating Leases
The Company leases office facilities and variousiggent under non-cancelable leases expiring awsdates through June

2020. Certain leases are subject to escalatiasetabased upon changes in various factors. Thenmimfuture annual operating lease
commitments for leases with non-cancelable terxdyusive of unknown operating escalation chargesaa follows ($ in thousands):

Fiscal Years Amouni
2015 $3,19:
2016 2,45¢
2017 2,02:
2018 1,57¢
2019 67C
Thereaftel 22¢€
Total $10,14¢

Rent expense for the fiscal years ended Janu@&91% and December 28, 2013 was $2,837 and $2,896ectively.
The Company subleases space to other tenantsi@avaffice locations under cancelable lease agea¢sn During the fiscal years ent
January 3, 2015 and December 28, 2013 paymenfspobeimately $246 and $203, respectively, wereivetktunder these leasing
arrangements. The Company offsets these paymgaitssaits rent expense for reporting purposes.

20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Richard Machon, a director of the Company, frometitm time provides consulting services to the Campa for clients of the Company

through Mr. Machon’s company, Machon & Associatése Company did not pay Machon and Associatesddiscal year 2014. The
Company paid Machon and Associates $43 duringisicalfyear ended December 28, 2013.
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21. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION ( UNAUDITED)

Fiscal Year Ended January 3, 2015

Diluted
Gross Operating Net Income
Sales Profit Income Income Per Shart
1st Quarte $48,56¢ $12,25 $2,03¢ $1,20: $0.1C
2nd Quarte 49,50¢ 12,95¢ 3,02t 2,015 0.1f
3rd Quarte 46,38: 13,16: 2,83: 1,877 0.1t
4th Quartel 49,31( 13,32( 2,62 1,717 0.14
Total $193,77! $51,69: $10,51¢ $6,81¢ $0.5¢
Fiscal Year Ended December 28, 2013
Diluted
Gross Operating Net Income
Sales Profit Income Income Per Shart
1st Quarte $41,23( $10,62: $1,51¢ $96( $0.0¢
2nd Quarte 42,37¢ 11,26: 1,71¢ 1,47( 0.1Z
3rd Quarte 41,32( 10,68¢ 1,80¢ 1,14z 0.0¢
4th Quartel 45,84¢ 11,79« (2,479 (1,582 (0.13
Total $170,77! $44,36: $2,55¢ $1,99( $0.1¢
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
RCM Technologies, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of RCM Technologies, Inc. (a Nevada catjom) (the “Company”as o
January 3, 2015 and December 28, 2013, the retatesblidated statements of operations, comprehernisoome, changes in stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the fiscal yaarthe twoyear period ended January 3, 2015, and the comasetidstatement of change:
accumulated other comprehensive income for the geded January 3, 2015. The consolidated finastiéments are the responsibilit
the Company’s management. Our responsibility exgress an opinion on these consolidated finastaé¢ments based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversightifBlo(United States). Thc
standards require that we plan and perform thetatmliobtain reasonable assurance about whethén#recial statements are free of mate
misstatement. The Company is not required to haeewere we engaged to perform, an audit of isrival control over financial reportir
Our audits included consideration of internal cohtver financial reporting as a basis for designamudit procedures that are appropria
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of esging an opinion on the effectiveness of the Comigamternal control over financ
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opiniédm audit includes examining, on a test basisgdaence supporting the amounts

disclosures in the financial statements. An aatfib includes assessing the accounting principsesl @nd significant estimates made
management, as well as evaluating the overall Gigdustatement presentation. We believe that oditayrovide a reasonable basis for
opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaerferred to above present fairly, in all materégpects, the consolidated financial pos
of RCM Technologies, Inc. as of January 3, 2015 @adember 28, 2013, and the consolidated resultsenf operations and their cash flc
for each of the fiscal years in the twear period ended January 3, 2015, in conformity \&ccounting principles generally accepted ir
United States of America.

In connection with our audit of the consolidatedaficial statements referred to above, we also edidiichedule || —Valuation an
Qualifying Accounts and Reserves for each of theryén the twoyear period ended January 3, 2015. In our opirtlus,financial schedul

when considered in relation to the consolidatethrftial statements taken as a whole, predairty, in all material respects, °
information stated therein.

EisnerAmper LLP

Iselin, New Jersey
March 5, 2015
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SCHEDULE Il

RCM TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES
Fiscal Years Ended January 3, 2015 and December 28)13

(Dollars in thousands, except share and per sla@meunts, unless otherwise indicated)

Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E
Balance at Charged to Balance at
Beginning Costs and End of
Description of Period Expense! Deduction Period
Fiscal Year Ended
January 3, 2015
Allowance for doubtful
accounts on trade receivab $97¢ 90t (872) $1,01:
Provision for contingencies for
legal matter: $18¢ $10C ($28¢) $0
Fiscal Year Ended
December 28, 2013
Allowance for doubtful
accounts on trade receivab $1,20° $301 ($530) $97¢
Provision for contingencies for
legal matter: $17¢ $8¢ ($75) $18¢
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EXHIBIT 21

Business Support Group of Michigan, Inc.
Cataract, Inc.
Point Comm, Inc.

Programming Alternatives of Minnesota, Inc.

RCM Technologies Canada Corp.
RCM Technologies (USA), Inc.
RCMT Delaware, Inc.

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT




EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRlegistration Statements of RCM Technologies, émcForm S8 (No. 33365482, Nc
333-145904, No. 333-61306, No. 333-80590, No. 33389, No. 333-52206 and No. 333480) of our report dated March 5, 2015, on
audits of the consolidated financial statementsfarahcial statement schedule as of January 3, 2005December 28, 2013, and for eac
the fiscal years in the two-year period ended Jan8ia2015, which report is included in this Ann&adport on Form 10-K.

EISNERAMPER LLP

Iselin, NJ
March 5, 2015




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION REQUIRED BY
RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

I, Rocco Campanelli, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on F&ad¥K of RCM Technologies, Inc. (the “registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doescontain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, niatadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial stat@s) and other financial information includedhiistreport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officorénd | are responsible for establishing and maiintg disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls andgutores, or caused such disclosure controls an@guoes to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepared

(b) Designed such internal control over financggdorting, or caused such internal control oveatriitial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regigts disclosure controls and procedures and predeén this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyedis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this annual report any chaimgthe registrant’s internal control over finarlgigporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, thegistrant’s internal control over financial repogdj and

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officerésd | have disclosed, based on our most receti@ion of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
function):

(@  All significant deficiencies and matenataknesses in the design or operation of intermatrol over financial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, thatdlves management or other employees who haygndisant role in the registrars’
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 4, 201 /siRocco Campanel
Rocco Campanelli
President and Chief Executive Offic




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION REQUIRED BY
RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

I, Kevin D. Miller, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on F&ad¥K of RCM Technologies, Inc. (the “registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doescnatain any untrue statement of a material facinit to state a material fact necessai
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nt#adisg with respect to the per
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial stat@s) and other financial information includedhirstreport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officrénd | are responsible for establishing and maiintg disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirgg @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls andgutores, or caused such disclosure controls an@guoes to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepared

(b) Designed such internal control over financggdorting, or caused such internal control oveatriitial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regigts disclosure controls and procedures and ptedeén this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyeldis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this annual report any chaimgthe registrant’s internal control over finarlgi@porting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, thegistrant’s internal control over financial repogj and

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officerésd | have disclosed, based on our most receti@ion of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
function):

(@  All significant deficiencies and matenataknesses in the design or operation of intermatrol over financial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, thatdlves management or other employees who haygndisant role in the registrars’
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 4, 201 /siKevin D. Miller
Kevin D. Miller
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secre!




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fR&M Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) for thedal year ended January 3, 2015, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiothe date hereof (the “Report”), I, Rocco Camplaridtesident & Chief Executive

Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 ICSsection 1350, as adopted pursuant to secti6roBthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to
my knowledge, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirents of Section 13(a) of the Securities ExchangieoA1934, as amended (15 U.S.C.
section 78m (a)); and

(2) The information contained in the Repoitlygpresents, in all material respects, the finahcondition and results of operations of the
Company.

/siRocco Campanel
Rocco Campanelli
President and Chief Executive Officer
March 4, 201¢

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 has been provided to RCM Technedpdnc. and will be retained by RCM
Technologies, Inc. and furnished to the Securéies Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fR&M Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) for thedal year ended January 3, 2015, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiohe date hereof (the “Report”), I, Kevin D. MilleChief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section013% adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sask@mley Act of 2002, to my

knowledge, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirents of Section 13(a) of the Securities ExchangfeoA1934, as amended (15 U.S.C.
section 78m (a)); and

(2) The information contained in the Repoitlygpresents, in all material respects, the finahcondition and results of operations of the
Company.

/siKevin D. Miller
Kevin D. Miller
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary
March 4, 201¢

A signed original of this written statement reqdil®y Section 906 has been provided to RCM Technedodnc. and will be retained by RCM
Technologies, Inc. and furnished to the Securéies Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRlegistration Statements of RCM Technologies, émcForm S8 (No. 33365482, Nc
333-145904, No. 333-61306, No. 333-80590, No. 33389, No. 333-52206 and No. 333480) of our report dated March 5, 2015, on
audits of the consolidated financial statementsfarahcial statement schedule as of January 3, 2005December 28, 2013, and for eac

the fiscal years in the two-year period ended Jan8a2015, which report is included in this Ann&aport on Form 10-K.
EISNERAMPER LLP

Iselin, NJ
March 5, 2015



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION REQUIRED BY
RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

I, Rocco Campanelli, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on F&ad¥K of RCM Technologies, Inc. (the “registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doesontain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts.under which such statements were made, niatadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial stat@s) and other financial information includedhiistreport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officorénd | are responsible for establishing and maiimtg disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls andgutores, or caused such disclosure controls an@guoes to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepared

(b) Designed such internal control over financgdorting, or caused such internal control oveatriitial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regigts disclosure controls and procedures and predeén this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conaintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyeldis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this annual report any chaimgthe registrant’s internal control over finargigporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, thegistrant’s internal control over financial repogdj and

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officerésd | have disclosed, based on our most receti@ion of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
function):

(@  All significant deficiencies and matenataknesses in the design or operation of intermatrol over financial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regrg’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, thatalves management or other employees who hawgndisant role in the registrarst’
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 4, 201 /siRocco Campanel
Rocco Campanelli
President and Chief Executive Offic




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION REQUIRED BY
RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

I, Kevin D. Miller, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on F&ad¥K of RCM Technologies, Inc. (the “registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doescoatain any untrue statement of a material faginit to state a material fact necessai
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nt#adisg with respect to the per
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial stat@s) and other financial information includedhirstreport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officrénd | are responsible for establishing and maiintg disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls andgutores, or caused such disclosure controls an@guoes to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepared

(b) Designed such internal control over financggdorting, or caused such internal control oveatriitial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regigts disclosure controls and procedures and ptedeén this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyeldis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this annual report any chaimgthe registrant’s internal control over finargi@porting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, thegistrant’s internal control over financial repogdj and

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officerésd | have disclosed, based on our most receti@ion of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
function):

(@  All significant deficiencies and matenataknesses in the design or operation of intermatrol over financial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regrg’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, thatalves management or other employees who hawgndisant role in the registrarst’
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 4, 201 /siKevin D. Miller
Kevin D. Miller
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secre!



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fR&M Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) for thedal year ended January 3, 2015, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiothe date hereof (the “Report”), I, Rocco Camplariétesident & Chief Executive

Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 ICSsection 1350, as adopted pursuant to secti6roBthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to
my knowledge, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirents of Section 13(a) of the Securities ExchangieoA1934, as amended (15 U.S.C.
section 78m (a)); and

(2) The information contained in the Repoitlygpresents, in all material respects, the finahcondition and results of operations of the
Company.

/siRocco Campanel
Rocco Campanelli
President and Chief Executive Officer
March 4, 201¢

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 has been provided to RCM Technedpdnc. and will be retained by RCM
Technologies, Inc. and furnished to the Securéied Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fR&M Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) for thedal year ended January 3, 2015, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiohe date hereof (the “Report”), I, Kevin D. Mille&Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section013% adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sask@mley Act of 2002, to my

knowledge, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirents of Section 13(a) of the Securities ExchangieoA1934, as amended (15 U.S.C.
section 78m (a)); and

(2) The information contained in the Repoitlygpresents, in all material respects, the finahcondition and results of operations of the
Company.

/siKevin D. Miller
Kevin D. Miller
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary
March 4, 201¢

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 has been provided to RCM Technedpdnc. and will be retained by RCM
Technologies, Inc. and furnished to the Securéied Exchange Commission or its staff upon req;



